



## **A Doctoral Dissertation**

Protective Effects of 7, 3', 4'-Trihydroxydihydroflavone against Oxidative Stress-Induced Cell Damage via Scavenging of Reactive Oxygen Species

Rui Zhang

Department of Medicine Graduate School Jeju National University

February, 2011

활성 산소종의 소거를 통한 산화적 스트레스로 유도되는 세포 손상에 대한 7,3',4'-trihydroxydihydroflavone의

## 보호작용

지도교수 현 진 원

장 예

이 논문을 의<mark>학 박사</mark>학위 논문으로 제출함

2011년 2월

장예의 의학 박사학위 논문을 인준함



제주대학교 대학원

## 2011년 2월

Collection @ jeju

# Protective Effects of 7, 3', 4'-Trihydroxydihydroflavone against Oxidative Stress-Induced Cell Damage via Scavenging of Reactive Oxygen Species

Rui Zhang

(Supervised by professor Jin-Won Hyun)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medicine

2011.02

This thesis has been examined and approved.

2010.12.22

Department of Medicine GRADUATE SCHOOL JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY



#### BACKGROUNDS

Flavonoids, which are important constituents of human diet, are a group of naturally occurring polyphenolic compounds ubiquitously found in vegetables and fruits. Recently, to seek for natural antioxidants with superior pharmacological effects and less cytotoxic properties, much attention has been paid on the potential applications of flavonoid-based drugs in the prevention and therapy of free radical-mediated human diseases. 7, 3', 4'-Trihydroxydihydroflavone, also termed as butin, has been isolated from several medicinal herbs such as *Dalbergia odorifera*, *Adenanthera pavanina*, and *Vernonia anthelmintica Willd*, and reported to possess biological activities such as skin-whitening and anti-implantation properties. Butin was proved to possess antioxidant activity by virtue of its free radical scavenging capacity, however, as far as we know, few studies have reported on the precise mechanisms of butin against oxidative stress-induced cell damage. Therefore, the present study is focused on the underlying mechanisms involved in butin's protective effects.

Initially, we reveal that the protective effects of butin against oxidative stress-induced cell damage might involve dual actions: direct action on oxygen radical scavenging, as shown by free radical scavenging, and indirect action through the induction of antioxidative enzymes.

Mitochondria are the major source of superoxide production and are subjected to direct attack of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Therefore we focused on the role of butin in oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial damage. Consequently, we found that butin decreased mitochondrial ROS accumulation, balanced intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels, and improved mitochondrial energy production, thus recovering mitochondrial function.

It is also well known that ROS plays a crucial role in triggering the mitochondriamediated apoptosis pathway. Thus we demonstrated that the protective effect of butin against oxidative stress-induced apoptosis was exerted via blockage of membrane potential



-I-

depolarization, inhibition of the JNK and mitochondria mediated caspase-dependent apoptotic pathways.

Antioxidative enzymes provide a major mechanism by which cells combat the toxicities of ROS, and their induction is also highly effective and sufficient for protecting cells against oxidative stress. Manganese superoxide dismutase (Mn SOD), the primary antioxidant enzyme that scavenges superoxide radicals in mitochondria, has recently been emphasized for its protective functions. Transcriptional regulation of Mn SOD is predominantly mediated by a redox-sensitive transcription factor NF-E2 related factor-2 (Nrf2). In addition, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (PKB, Akt) are associated with the modulation of antioxidant responsive element (ARE)-driven gene expression via Nrf2 activation. Our study indicated that butin reduced oxidative stress-induced cell damage via an increased activation of PI3K/Akt, which appears to be responsible for nuclear translocation of Nrf2, its subsequent binding to ARE, and the up-regulation of Mn SOD expression.

## IEJU

Keyword: Antioxidant • Butin • Oxidative stress • Antioxidant enzyme • Apoptosis •
Cytoprotective activity • Mitochondrial dysfunction • Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species
• Succinate dehydrogenase • Mitochondria-dependent apoptotic pathway • Manganese superoxide dismutase • NF-E2-related factor 2 • Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B



## CONTENTS

BACKGROUND	I
CONTENTS	Ш
PART ONE	IV
PART TWO	V
PART THREE	VI
PART FOUR	VII
LIST OF FIGURES	VIII
REFERENCES	
ABSTRACT IN KOREAN	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
	955



## PART ONE

	ABSTRACT	2
1.	INTRODUCTION	3
2.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	5
	2.1. Reagents	
	2.2. Cell culture	
	2.3. Intracellular ROS measurement	
	2.4. DPPH radical scavenging activity	
	2.5. Lipid peroxidation detection	þ.,
	2.6. Comet assay	
	2.7. SOD activity	-
ļ	2.8. CAT activity	
	2.9. Cell viability	7
	2.10. Nuclear staining with Hoechst 33342	
	2.11. DNA fragmentation	
	2.12. Western blot	
	2.13. Statistical analysis	
3.	RESULTS	11
	3.1. Radical scavenging activity of butin	
	3.2. Effect of butin on lipid peroxidation and cellular DNA damage induced by $H_2$ C	$D_2$
	3.3. Effect of butin on SOD and CAT	
	3.4. Protective effect of butin on cell damage induced by $H_2O_2$	
4.	DISCUSSION	22

## PART TWO

ABSTRACT	
1. INTRODUCTION	
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1. Reagents	
2.2. Cell culture	
2.3. Detection of superoxide radical	0
2.4. Detection of hydroxyl radical	1
2.5. Mitochondrial ROS measurement	2
2.6. Intracelluar Ca <sup>2+</sup> measurement	
2.7. Quantification of cellular ATP levels	
2.8. Succinate dehydrogenase activity measurement	2
2.9. Statistical analysis	07
3. RESULTS	
3.1. Radical scavenging activity of butin in a cell-free system	
3.2. The effect of butin on mitochondrial ROS scavenging activity	
3.3. The effect of butin on intracellular $Ca^{2+}$	2
3.4. The effect of butin on intracellular ATP levels and succinate de	ehydrogenase activity
4. DISCUSSION	



### PART THREE

ABSTRACT	
1. INTRODUCTION	
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2-1. Reagents	
2-2. Cell culture	6
2-3. Mitochondria membrane potential ( $\Delta \psi_m$ ) analysis	10
2-4. Western blot analysis	1
2-5. Preparation of the nuclear extract and electrophoretic mobility	<sup>7</sup> shift assay
2-6. Transient transfection and AP-1 luciferase assay	-
2-7. Nuclear staining with Hoechst 33342	
2-8. Detection of apoptotic sub-G1 hypodiploid cells	0
2-9. DNA fragmentation	07
2-10. Statistical analysis	$\sim$
3. RESULTS	
3-1. Effect of butin on $H_2O_2$ -induced $\Delta \psi_m$ depolarization	
3-2. Effect of butin on apoptosis related proteins	S-
3-3. Effect of butin on the SEK1-JNK-AP-1 signaling pathway	
3-4. Effect of butin against $H_2O_2$ -induced apoptosis	
4. DISCUSSION	

Collection @ jeju

## PART FOUR

ABSTRACT	66
1. INTRODUCTION	. 67
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	70
2-1. Reagents	
2-2. Cell culture	
2-3. Western blotting analysis	
2-4. Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction	
2-5. Measurement of Mn SOD activity	
2-6. Nuclear extract preparation and electrophoretic mobility shift assay	
2-7. Transient transfection of small RNA interference (siRNA)	
2-8. Cell viability	
2-9. Statistical analysis	1
3. RESULTS	75
3-1. Butin recovered Mn SOD mRNA and protein expression as well as its activity	
3-2. Butin increased the levels of Nrf2 transcription factor	
3-3. Butin activated Nrf2-driven Mn SOD via phosphorylation of PI3K/Akt	
3-4. Involvement of Mn SOD in cell damage induced by oxidative stress	
4. DISCUSSION	84



## LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 2. Effect of butin on scavenging intracellular ROS in V79-4 cells and DPPH
radical
01
Fig. 3. Effect of butin on inhibition of lipid peroxidation and cellular DNA damage induced
by H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> in V79-4 cells
S 1 7
Fig. 4. Effects of butin on SOD and CAT activity in V79-4 cells
Fig. 5. Protective effect of butin on $H_2O_2$ induced cell damage
Fig. 6. The scavenging activity of butin on superoxide and hydroxyl radicals
Fig. 7. The effect of butin on $H_2O_2$ -induced mitochondrial ROS generation
Fig. 8. The effect of butin on intracellular $Ca^{2+}$ levels
Fig. 9. The effects of butin on intracellular ATP levels and succinate dehydrogenase
activity
Fig. 10. Effects of butin on $H_2O_2$ -induced $\Delta \psi_m$ depolarization

Collection @ jeju

Fig.	11.	Effects of	f butin oi	n mitochondrial	apoptos	is related	proteins	
		Elleets of	i outili ol	i intovnona ia	apoptor	ib i ciacea	p10.001110	

Fig.	12.	Effects of	f butin o	$n H_2O_2$ -	induced	SEK1-J	INK-AP	-1 ac	ctivation	
		LIICCUD OI	l oatin o	<b></b>	maacca	D DILI U		1		

 Fig. 18. The cytoprotective effect of butin against H2O2-induced cell death via up-regulation

 the Mn SODactivity.

 80



## PART I

Protective Effect of Butin (7, 3', 4'-Trihydroxydihydroflavone) against Hydrogen Peroxide Induced Apoptosis by Scavenging Reactive Oxygen Species and Activating Antioxidant Enzymes





#### ABSTRACT

The antioxidant property of butin was investigated for cytoprotective effect against  $H_2O_2$ induced cell damage. This compound showed intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) scavenging, 1, 1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging, inhibition of lipid peroxidation, and DNA damage. This radical scavenging activity of butin protected cell damage exposed to  $H_2O_2$ . Also, butin reduced the apoptotic cells induced by  $H_2O_2$ , as demonstrated by the decreased DNA fragmentation, apoptotic body formation, and caspase 3 activity. In addition, butin restored the activity and protein expression of cellular antioxidant enzymes, superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT) in  $H_2O_2$  treated cells. Taken together, these findings suggest that butin protected cells against  $H_2O_2$  induced cell damage via antioxidant property.

Keywords: Antioxidant • Butin • Oxidative stress • Antioxidant enzyme • Apoptosis • Cytoprotective activity

H IL



191 3

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Flavonoids are a group of naturally occurring polyphenolic compounds ubiquitously found in fruits and vegetables. Flavonoids are benzo- $\gamma$ -pyrone derivatives that can be grouped according to the presence of different substituents on the rings and to the degree of benzo- $\gamma$ pyrone ring saturation (Di Carlo et al., 1999). The various classes of flavonoids differ in the level of oxidation of the C ring of the basic benzo-y-pyrone structure. Common family members of flavonoids include flavones, flavanes, flavonols, catechins, and anthocyanidins. The structural difference in each flavonoid family results from the variation in the number and substitution pattern of the hydroxyl groups and the extent of glycosylation of these groups (Amic et al., 2003). Flavonoids, important constituents of the human diet, are also found in medicinal plants, herbal remedies containing flavonoids have been used in folk medicine around the world (Di Carlo et al., 1999; Jovanovic et al., 1994). Plant flavonoids are emerging as potent therapeutic drugs for free radical mediated diseases, for which cell membranes generally serve as targets for lipid peroxidation and related deleterious effects. They are known to possess powerful antioxidant properties, which are attributed to the presence of phenolic hydroxyl groups in the B ring of flavonoid structure. They usually contain one or more aromatic hydroxyl groups and this moiety is responsible for the antioxidant activity of the flavonoid (van Acker et al., 2000). Due to its intrinsic feature of radical scavenging activity, flavonoids have shown potential health benefits. Much recent attention has been focused on the potential uses of flavonoid-based drugs for the prevention and therapy of free radical mediated human diseases, such as atherosclerosis, ischemia, inflammation, neuronal degeneration, cardiovascular diseases (Amic et al., 2003; van Acker et al., 2000; Gordon and Roedig-Penman, 1998). Many studies have focused on the biological activities of flavonoids, which are potent antioxidants and free radical scavengers (Rice-Evans et al., 1995; Kahkonen et al., 1999;



Sugihara et al., 1999). Therefore, researchers are looking for natural antioxidants with strong pharmacological action and less cytotoxic properties. Butin was isolated from several medicinal herbs (Jang et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2005; Su et al., 2007; Su et al., 2004) and reported to have biological activities such as skin-whitening and anti-implantation activity (Bhargava, 1986; Lee et al., 2006). To the best of our knowledge, much of studies have not been reported. Therefore, we demonstrate for the first time the intrinsic antioxidant characteristics of the flavonoid, butin (7, 3', 4'-trihydroxydihydroflavone) as shown in Fig. 1 to explore its antioxidant properties for cytoprotection on oxidative stress induced cell damage.



513

FI

#### 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1. Reagents

Butin was purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Ind., Ltd. (Tokyo, Japan) and dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) and final concentration of DMSO did not exceed 0.02%. The 1, 1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical, 2', 7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCF-DA), and Hoechst 33342 were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, USA), and the thiobarbituric acid (TBA) was purchased from BDH laboratories (Dorset, UK). Anti-poly ADP-ribosyl polymerase (PARP), and anti-caspase 3 antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (MA, USA). Primary anti-actin was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (CA, USA). Primary sheep monoclonal Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase and catalase antibodies were purchased from Biodesign International Company (Maine, USA). The other chemicals and reagents used were of analytical grade.



Fig.1. Chemical structure of butin (7, 3', 4'-trihydroxydihydroflavone).

#### 2.2. Cell culture

It is reported that lung is an organ sensitive to oxidative stress (Murray et al., 2004; Pryor et al., 1998). To study the effect of butin on oxidative stress, we used Chinese hamster lung

fibroblasts (V79-4 cells). The V79-4 cells from the American type culture collection were maintained at 37 °C in an incubator, with a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO2 and cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum, streptomycin (100 µg/ml) and penicillin (100 units/ml).

#### 2.3. Intracellular ROS measurement

To detect intracellular ROS, the DCF-DA method was used. DCF-DA diffuses into cells, where it is hydrolyzed by intracellular esterase to polar 2', 7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein. This non-fluorescent fluorescein analog is trapped in cells and can be oxidized to the highly fluorescent 2', 7'-dichlorofluorescein by intracellular oxidants (Rosenkranz et al., 1992). The V79-4 cells were seeded in a 96 well plate at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml, and 16 h after plating, were treated with various concentrations of butin and 30 min later 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate. Cells were incubated for an additional 30 min at 37 °C. The fluorescence of 2', 7'-dichlorofluorescein was detected at 485 nm excitation and at 535 nm emission, using a PerkinElmer LS-5B spectrofluorometer. The intracellular ROS scavenging activity (%) was calculated as [(optical density of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>)-(optical density of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) × 100.

#### 2.4. DPPH radical scavenging activity

Various concentrations of butin were added to a  $1 \times 10^{-4}$  M solution of DPPH in methanol, and the reaction mixture was shaken vigorously. After 5 h, the amount of DPPH remaining was determined at 520 nm (Lo et al., 2004). The DPPH radical scavenging activity (%) was calculated as [(optical density of DPPH radical)-(optical density of DPPH radical) with butin treatment)]/(optical density of DPPH radical) × 100.

-6-

#### 2.5. Lipid peroxidation detection

Lipid peroxidation was assayed by the measurement of related substances that reacts with thiobarbituric acid (TBARS) (Ohkawa et al., 1979). The V79-4 cells were seeded in a culture dish at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml, and 16 h after plating, were treated with butin at 10 µg/ml. After 1 h, 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate, which was incubated more for a further 1 h. The cells were then washed with cold PBS, scraped and homogenized in ice-cold 1.15% KCl. About 100 µl of cell lysates was combined with 0.2 ml of 8.1% SDS, 1.5 ml of 20% acetic acid (adjusted to pH 3.5) and 1.5 ml of 0.8% thiobarbituric acid (TBA). The mixture was adjusted to a final volume of 4 ml with distilled water and heated to 95 °C for 2 h. After cooling to room temperature, 5 ml of a mixture of n-butanol and pyridine (15:1, v/v) was added to each sample, and the mixture shaken vigorously. After centrifugation at 1,000 × g for 10 min, the supernatant fraction was isolated, and the absorbance measured at 532 nm.

#### 2.6. Comet assay

A Comet assay was performed to assess oxidative DNA damage (Rajagopalan et al., 2003; Singh, 2000). The cell pellet  $(1.5 \times 10^5$  cells) was mixed with 100 µl of 0.5% low melting agarose (LMA) at 39 °C and spread on a fully frosted microscopic slide that was pre-coated with 200 µl of 1% normal melting agarose (NMA). After solidification of the agarose, the slide was covered with another 75 µl of 0.5% LMA and then immersed in lysis solution (2.5 M NaCl, 100 mM Na–EDTA, 10 mM Tris, 1% Trion X-100, and 10% DMSO, pH 10) for 1 h at 4 °C. The slides were then placed in a gelelectrophoresis apparatus containing 300 mM NaOH and 10 mM Na–EDTA (pH 13) for 40 min to allow DNA unwinding and the expression of the alkali labile damage. An electrical field was applied (300 mA, 25 V) for 20 min at 4 °C to draw negatively charged DNA toward an anode. After electrophoresis, the slides were washed three times for 5 min at 4 °C in a neutralizing buffer (0.4 M Tris, pH 7.5) and then stained with 75 µl



of ethidium bromide (20  $\mu$ g/ml). The slides were observed using a fluorescence microscope and image analysis (Kinetic Imaging, Komet 5.5, UK). The percentage of total fluorescence in the tail and the tail length of the 50 cells per slide were recorded.

#### 2.7. SOD activity

The V79-4 cells were seeded in a culture dish at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml, and 16 h after plating, were treated with butin at 10 µg/ml. After 1 h, 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate, which was incubated more for a further 1 h. The cells were then washed with cold PBS, and scraped. The harvested cells were suspended in 10 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) and then lysed on ice by sonicating twice for 15 sec. Triton X-100 (1%) was then added to the lysates and incubated for 10 min on ice. The lysates were clarified, by centrifugation at  $5,000 \times \text{g}$  for 10 min at 4 °C, to remove cellular debris. The protein content of the supernatant was determined by the Bradford method, using bovine serum albumin as the standard. The total SOD activity was used to detect the level of epinephrine auto-oxidation inhibition (Misra and Fridovich, 1972). Fifty microgram of protein was added to 500 mM phosphate buffer (pH 10.2) and 1 mM epinephrine. Epinephrine rapidly undergoes auto-oxidation at pH 10 to produce adrenochrome, a pink colored product, which was assayed at 480 nm using a UV/VIS spectrophotometer in the kinetic mode. SOD inhibits the auto-oxidation of epinephrine. The rate of inhibition was monitored at 480 nm and the amount of enzyme required to produce 50% inhibition was defined as one unit of enzyme activity. The total SOD activity was expressed as units/mg protein.

#### 2.8. CAT activity

Fifty microgram of protein was added to 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and 100 mM  $H_2O_2$  and then this mixture was incubated for 2 min at 37 °C and the absorbance of the mixture

were monitored for 5 min at 240 nm. The change in absorbance is proportional to the breakdown of  $H_2O_2$  (Carrillo et al., 1991). The CAT activity was expressed as units/mg protein.

#### 2.9. Cell viability

The effect of butin on the viability of V79-4 cells was determined by the MTT assay, which is based on the cleavage of a tetrazolium salt by mitochondrial dehydrogenase in viable cells (Carmichael et al., 1987). The V79-4 cells were seeded in a 96 well plate at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml, and 16 h after plating, were treated with butin at 10 µg/ml, and 1 h later 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate and incubated for an additional 24 h at 37 °C. Fifty microliter of MTT stock solution (2 mg/ml) was then added to each well of a total reaction volume of 200 µl. After incubating for 4 h, the plate was centrifuged at 800 × g for 5 min and the supernatants aspirated. The formazan crystals in each well were dissolved in 150 µl DMSO and the A540 read on a scanning multi-well spectrophotometer. To determine the effect of catalase inhibitor, 3-amino-1, 2, 4-triazole (ATZ) on the cell viability, cells were pre-treated with final 20 mM of ATZ for 1 h, followed by 1 h of incubation with butin and exposure to 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> for 24 h and the cell viability was measured using MTT test.

#### 2.10. Nuclear staining with Hoechst 33342

The V79-4 cells were placed in a 24 well plate at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml, and 16 h after plating, were treated with butin at 10 µg/ml and after further incubation for 1 h, 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the culture. After 24 h, 1.5 µl of Hoechst 33342 (stock 10 mg/ml), a DNA specific fluorescent dye, was added to each well (1.5 ml) and incubated for 10 min at 37 °C. Then stained cells were then observed under a fluorescent microscope, equipped with a CoolSNAP-Pro color digital camera, to examine the degree of nuclear condensation.



#### 2.11. DNA fragmentation

Cellular DNA-fragmentation was assessed by analysis of the cytoplasmic histoneassociated DNA fragmentation using a kit from Roche Diagnostics according to the manufacturer's instructions.

UN/

#### 2.12. Western blot

The V79-4 cells were placed in a plate at  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml. Sixteen hours after plating, the cells were treated with 10 µg/ml of butin. The cells were harvested at the indicated times, and washed twice with PBS. The harvested cells were then lysed on ice for 30 min in 100 µl of lysis buffer [120 mM NaCl, 40 mM Tris (pH 8), 0.1% NP 40] and centrifuged at 13,000 × g for 15 min. Supernatants were collected from the lysates and protein concentrations were determined. Aliquots of the lysates (40 µg of protein) were boiled for 5 min and electrophoresed in 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel. Blots in the gels were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad, CA, USA), which were then incubated with primary antibody. The membranes were further incubated with secondary immunoglobulin G-horseradish peroxidase conjugates (Pierce, IL, USA), and then exposed to X-ray film. Protein bands were detected using an enhanced chemiluminescence Western blotting detection kit (Amersham, Buckinghamshire, UK).

#### 2.13. Statistical analysis

Collection @ jeju

Results are represented as the mean  $\pm$  standard error (SE). The results were subjected to an analysis of the variance (ANOVA) using the Tukey test to analyze the difference. p<0.05 were considered significantly.

#### 3. RESULTS

#### 3.1. Radical scavenging activity of butin

The radical scavenging effect of butin on the intracellular ROS in V79-4 cells and DPPH radical were measured. The intracellular ROS scavenging activity of butin was 19% at 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml, 46% at 1  $\mu$ g/ml, and 62% at 10  $\mu$ g/ml (Fig. 2A). This compound at 10  $\mu$ g/ml effectively inhibited the intracellular ROS effectively compared to 86% of N-acetylcystein used as a positive control (data not shown). This ROS scavenging activity of butin is consistent with its DPPH radical scavenging activity (Fig. 2B), and showed dose dependence; 9% in 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml, 32% in 1  $\mu$ g/ml, and 59% in 10  $\mu$ g/ml. Taken together, these results suggest that butin has antioxidant effect.



**Fig.2.** Effect of butin on scavenging intracellular ROS in V79-4 cells and DPPH radical. (A) The intracellular ROS was detected by DCF-DA method. The measurements were made in triplicate and values are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SE. \*Significantly different from control (p<0.05).



**Fig.2. continued.** (B) The amount of DPPH radicals was determined spectrophotometrically at 520 nm. The measurements were made in triplicate and values are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SE. \*Significantly different from control (p<0.05).

1952

I

3.2. Effect of butin on lipid peroxidation and cellular DNA damage induced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>

The abilities of butin to inhibit membrane lipid peroxidation and cellular DNA damage in  $H_2O_2$  treated cells were investigated.  $H_2O_2$  induced damage to cell membrane, one of the most important lesions, is responsible for the loss of cell viability. The peroxidation of membrane lipids is the major lesion in the membranes. As shown in Fig. 3A, V79-4 cells exposed to  $H_2O_2$  showed an increase in the lipid peroxidation, which was monitored by the generation of TBARS. However, butin prevented the  $H_2O_2$ -induced peroxidation of lipids compared to  $H_2O_2$  treated cells. Damage to cellular DNA induced by  $H_2O_2$  exposure was detected by using an alkaline comet. The exposure of cells to  $H_2O_2$  increased the comet parameters of tail length and percentage of DNA in the tails of the cells. When the cells were exposed to  $H_2O_2$ , the percentage of DNA in the tail was increased 55% as shown in Figs. 3B and C. Treatment with butin decreased the comet tail length and resulted in a decrease in percentage of DNA in the tail to 33%, indicating a protective effect of butin on  $H_2O_2$ -induced DNA damage.



913

1 IL



**Fig.3.** Effect of butin on inhibition of lipid peroxidation and cellular DNA damage induced by  $H_2O_2$  in V79-4 cells (A) Lipid peroxidation was assayed by measuring the amount of TBARS. \*Significantly different from control (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from  $H_2O_2$  treatment (p<0.05).

1952

I

A



**Fig.3. continued.** (B) Representative images and (C) percentage of cellular DNA damage were detected by an alkaline comet assay. \*Significantly different from control (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment (p<0.05).



#### 3.3. Effect of butin on SOD and CAT

To investigate whether the radical scavenging activity of butin was mediated by the activity of an antioxidant enzyme, the activity of SOD in butin treated V79-4 cells was measured. Butin increased the activity of SOD, showing 39 U/mg protein at 10 µg/ml of butin compared to 29 U/mg protein of the control (Fig. 4A). The exposure of cells to  $H_2O_2$  decreased the SOD activity to 20 U/mg protein, however, treatment with butin resulted in an increase to 29 U/mg protein (Fig. 4A). In the case of CAT activity, butin showed same pattern of SOD. The activity of CAT was increased by butin, showing 51 U/mg protein at 10 µg/ml of butin compared to 30 U/mg protein of the control (Fig. 4B). H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated V79-4 cells resulted in a decrease of CAT activity to 17 U/mg protein, however, treatment with butin resulted in an increase to 35 U/mg protein (Fig. 4B). To confirm the activation of SOD and CAT by butin in terms of protein expression, the western blot analysis was performed. As shown in Fig. 4C, the protein expressions of Cu/Zn SOD (16 kDa) and CAT (42 kDa) by butin were found to increase.  $H_2O_2$ treated V79-4 cells resulted in decreased protein expressions of Cu/Zn SOD and CAT, however, treatment with butin resulted in increased protein expressions of Cu/Zn SOD and CAT. The protein levels of the enzymes (Fig. 4C) were consistent with the enzyme activity (Fig. 4D). The results show that the enhancement in antioxidant enzyme activities by butin may be associated with the inhibition of the production of ROS. 3-Amino-1, 2, 4-triazol (ATZ) is known as a specific inhibitor of catalase activity (Margoliash et al., 1960). To determine the effect of catalase inhibitor on butin induced cytoprotection from H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> induced damage, V79-4 cells were pretreated with 20 mM of ATZ for 1 h, followed by 1 h of incubation with butin and exposure to 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> for 24 h. As shown in Fig. 4D, ATZ treatment abolished the protective capacity of butin in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> damaged cells.

Collection @ jeju



Fig.4. Effects of butin on SOD and CAT activity in V79-4 cells. (A and B) The enzyme activities are expressed as average enzyme unit per mg protein ± SE. \*Significantly different from control (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from by  $H_2O_2$  treatment (p<0.05).

-17-

Collection @ jeju



**Fig.4. continued.** (C) Western blot analysis was performed using anti-Cu/Zn SOD and catalase antibodies. (D) After treatment of ATZ, butin or/and  $H_2O_2$ , the viability of V79-4 cells was determined by MTT assay. \*Significantly different from control (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from by  $H_2O_2$  treatment (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from  $H_2O_2$  treated cells with butin (p<0.05).

#### 3.4. Protective effect of butin on cell damage induced by $H_2O_2$

The protective effect of butin on cell survival in  $H_2O_2$  treated V79-4 cells was also assessed. Cells were treated with butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml for 1 h, prior to the addition of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. The cell viability was determined 24 h later by MTT assay. As shown in Fig. 5A, butin treated V79-4 cells enhanced cell survival rate of 107% compared to 100% of control, indicating butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml did not show cytotoxicity to V79-4 cells. Combination of butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> increased 71% in the cell survival rate compared to 54% in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated cells. To study the cytoprotective effect of butin on apoptosis induced by H2O2, nuclei of V79-4 cells were stained with Hoechst 33342 for microscopic examination. The microscopic pictures in Fig. 5B indicated that the control cells had intact nuclei, and the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated cells showed significant nuclear fragmentation, characteristic of apoptosis. However, when the cells were treated with butin for 1 h prior to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment, a dramatic decrease in nuclear fragmentation was observed. In addition to the morphological evaluation, the protective effect of butin against apoptosis was also confirmed by ELISA based quantification of cytoplasmic histone associated DNA fragmentation. Treatment of cells with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> increased the levels of cytoplasmic histone-associated DNA fragmentations compared to control group, however, treatment with 10  $\mu$ g/ml of butin decreased the level of DNA fragmentation (Fig. 5C). Next, we examined the caspase 3 activity by western blot since it is known as the major effecter caspase of the apoptotic process. Butin inhibited the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> induced active form of caspase 3 (17 kDa), which is further demonstrated by the cleavage of poly ADP-ribosyl polymerase (PARP) (89 kDa). These results suggest that butin protects cell death by inhibiting apoptosis induced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment.



Fig.5. Protective effect of butin on  $H_2O_2$  induced cell damage. (A) The viability of V79-4 cells on  $H_2O_2$  treatment was determined by MTT assay. \*Significantly different from control (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from by  $H_2O_2$  treatment (p<0.05). (B) Apoptotic body formation was observed under a fluorescent microscope after Hoechst 33342 staining Apoptotic bodies are indicated by arrows.

Collection @ jeju



**Fig.5. continued.** (C) DNA fragmentation was quantified by ELISA kit. The measurements were made in triplicate and values are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SE. \*Significantly different from control (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment (p<0.05). (D) Western blot analysis was performed using anti-caspase 3 and PARP antibodies.

С

#### 4. Discussion

Natural flavonoids are emerging as potent therapeutic drugs for free radical mediated diseases. For example, isoliquiritigenin, baicalein, naringin, and catechin showed neuroprotection through inhibition of ROS, suggesting pharmacologic interest agent for the treatment of Parkinson's disease (Guo et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2005; Singh and Chopra, 2004; Zhan and Yang, 2006). Therefore, researchers have made numerous efforts to find antioxidants. Although many studies have reported that antioxidant activity of flavonoids, there is no report on the antioxidant activity of flavonoid, butin. Therefore, in this study we evaluated antioxidant properties and cytoprotective effect of butin against oxidative stress. Butin increased the intracellular ROS and DPPH radical scavenging activities and then enhanced the viability of V79-4 cells exposed to  $H_2O_2$ . The cells exposed to  $H_2O_2$  exhibited distinct morphological features of apoptosis, such as nuclear fragmentation and an increase in the percentage of DNA fragmentation. However, cells that were pretreated with butin had significantly reduced the apoptotic phenomenon (Figs. 3B, 3C, 5B, and 5C). It is well known that the generation of reactive oxygen species plays an important role in mitochondrial apoptosis occurrence through the disruption of redox homeostasis (Brunelle and Chandel, 2002). In general, the radical scavenging activity of flavonoids depends on the molecular structure and the substitution pattern of hydroxyl groups, on the availability of phenolic hydrogens and on the possibility of stabilization of the resulting phenoxyl radicals via hydrogen bonding or by expanded electron delocalization (Amic et al., 2003). The structural requirement considered to be essential for effective radical scavenging criteria is the presence of a 3', 4'-orthodihydroxy group (catechol structure) in the B ring, possessing electron donating properties and being a radical target. Also, the 3-OH moiety of the C ring is also beneficial for the antioxidant activity of flavonoids. The C2-C3 double bond conjugated with a 4-keto group,



-22-

which is responsible for electron delocalization from the B ring, enhances further the radicalscavenging capacity and saturation of the 2, 3-double bond is believed to cause a loss of activity potential (Rice-Evans et al., 1996). Also, the presence of both 3-OH and 5-OH groups in combination with a 4-carbonyl function and C2-C3 double bond increases the radical scavenging activity.

For summary, the required structural criteria for high antioxidant activity of the flavonoids included the 3', 4'-orthodihydroxy group (catechol structure) in the B-ring or in the A-ring, the 3-hydroxyl group or the 3-galloyl group (catechol structure) in the C-ring, and the 2, 3-double bond in conjugation with 4-oxo function (carbonyl group) in the C-ring. There was a report comparing the structural criteria with radical scavenging activity among flavonoids, resulting in decreasing order of flavanols (flavan-3-ols), flavonols, flavones, and flavanones (Cai et al., 2006). Flavanols contain more hydroxyl groups (five to eight OH groups), especially with 3', 4'-orthodihydroxy group in the B-ring and 3-hydroxyl group and/or 3-galloyl group in the Cring, as compared to flavonols (one to six OH groups) and other flavonoids (one to four OH). (-)-Epigallocatechin gallate was found to be the strongest radical scavenger among all of the tested flavonoids, because of its structural advantage possessing eight OH groups and 3', 4'orthodihydroxy group in the B-ring and 3-galloyl group in the C-ring (Cai et al., 2006). Flavonols display three structural requirements by having 3-hydroxyl group in the C-ring and 3', 4'-orthodihydroxy group (catechol structure) in the B-ring, as well as possessing the 2, 3double bond conjugated with 4-oxo function in the C-ring. Some individual compounds within classes of the flavonols did not completely follow the order, for example quercetin (3, 5, 7, 3', 4'-pentahydroxyflavone), one of the most widely distributed flavonoids in plants, was more active than flavan-3-ols (Cai et al., 2006; Salter et al., 2004). Flavones possess the basic structure of the flavonoids. Some flavones showed moderate antiradical activity, such as baicalein, luteolin, and baicalin, but other flavones exhibited far lower activity, such as


apigenin and chrysin which were almost inactive (Cai et al., 2006). Flavanone has a 4-oxo group without 2, 3-double bond in the C-ring. As compared with the flavan-3-ols and flavonols with very higher scavenging activity, most of the the flavanones lack the most important structural groups for scavenging radicals (especially ortho-dihydroxy group) in the B-ring, which leads to the much lower activity of the flavanones (Rice-Evans et al., 1996). Regardless of the criteria for determining for antioxidant activity, somewhat controversial are the reports on the comparison of a range of flavanone and flavone in their antioxidant capacity, suggesting that the 2, 3-double bond is deemed less important because flavanone is more effective than its unsaturated flavones (Rice-Evans et al., 1996).

Butin, one of flavanones, which has three hydroxyl groups in the A- and B-rings but lack the 2, 3-double bond in the C-ring, showed antioxidant properties. According to our results and previous reports regarding structure and antioxidant activity relationship of flavan-3-ols, flavonols, and flavones, antioxidant activity of butin might be related with this kind of structure which support electron delocalization between the A- and B-rings and stabilize the aryloxyl radicals after hydrogen donation. This indicated that the presence of the 2, 3-double bond in combination with the 4-oxo function (carbonyl group) in the C-ring could be beneficial, not essential, role in radical delocalization from B- to C-rings, and strengthens the activity of the flavone and flavonol. Thus, the effectiveness of antioxidants is dependent on the orthodihydroxy groups and is the most important structural feature for the high activity. Also, previous structure-activity relationship studies of 29 flavonoid derivatives corresponds to the reports and have pointed to the importance of the number and location of the phenolic OH groups present for the antiradical efficacy, indicating that highly active flavonoids possess a 3', 4'-orthodihydroxy group (catechol structure) in the B-ring and/or 3-OH group (Amic et al., 2003). Other approaches for determinants of radical scavenging potential of 5, 7-OH in the Aring showed it has little influence on antioxidant efficacy (Cos et al., 2001).



-24-

Our results on the antioxidant activity of butin are partially consistent with these criteria as mentioned above. Butin, one of the flavanone types, which seems to have weak antioxidant activity in terms of chemical structure itself, however butin increased antioxidant activity as shown by intracellular ROS, DPPH radical scavenging activities, and lipid peroxidation inhibition, further promoted cell viability on H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced apoptosis, and enhanced the effects of antioxidant enzymes. As seen from the results, it can be stated that the protective effect of butin does not depend simply on the direct radical quenching due to catechol structure in the B-ring but also indirect induction of antioxidant enzymes such as SOD and CAT. Antioxidant activity of butin might be expected to promote a state of well-being and reduce the risk of ROS related diseases, however our results are initial step for the development of raw materials of functional food and medicine. Therefore, stepwise process of fundamental and challenging research for the target of specific disease, molecular events relevant signaling pathways, in vivo study, bioavailability, and metabolism are remained to guarantee the success of this goal.

In summary, many biochemical and clinical studies suggest that natural and synthetic antioxidant compounds help treat diseases medicated by oxidative stress (Lee et al., 2002). The results presented in this report indicate that butin efficiently attenuated oxidative stress induced cell damage through antioxidant properties.



# PART II

Butin (7, 3', 4'-Trihydroxydihydroflavone) Reduces Oxidative

Stress-Induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction via Scavenging of

Reactive Oxygen Species



# ABSTRACT

This study investigated the cytoprotective effect of butin, a flavonoid, on hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$ -induced mitochondrial dysfunction. Electron spin resonance (ESR) spectrometry revealed butin's significant scavenging effects on superoxide radicals and hydroxyl radicals. When  $H_2O_2$  was used to induce an increase in mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) in Chinese hamster lung fibroblast (V79-4) cells, butin treatment decreased high level of ROS. Butin also attenuated intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels that have been induced by  $H_2O_2$ . Furthermore, butin recovered ATP levels and succinate dehydrogenase activity that had been decreased by  $H_2O_2$  treatment. We conclude these results suggest butin decreased mitochondrial ROS accumulation, balanced intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels, and improved mitochondrial energy production, thus recovering mitochondrial function.

Keywords: Butin • Mitochondrial dysfunction • Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species • Succinate dehydrogenase

H IL



173

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

The primary mitochondrial ROS is superoxide radical  $(O_2 )$ , which is converted to  $H_2O_2$ , either by spontaneous dismutation or by the enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD).  $H_2O_2$  can be further transformed to hydroxyl (OH·) in the presence of metal ions by the Fenton reaction, although metal chaperone proteins in the mitochondrial matrix (Craig and Marszalek, 2002) likely prevent this from occurring in the organelle.

High concentrations of ROS can alter the balance of endogenous protective systems and attack mitochondria. Calcium ions and other apoptosis-related factors may be released from damaged mitochondria into the cytosol following dysfunction of the mitochondrial membrane that regulates cell apoptosis (Richter, 1993). Mitochondrial dysfunction has been correlated with diabetes mellitus (Lowell and Shulman, 2005), nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (Wei et al., 2008), and neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's disease (Castellani et al., 2002; Mattson et al., 2008).

Flavonoids, which are important constituents of human diet, are a group of naturally occurring polyphenolic compounds ubiquitously found in vegetables and fruits. Flavonoids are also found in medicinal plants; herbal remedies containing flavonoids have been used worldwide in folk medicines (Di Carlo et al., 1999; Jovanovic et al., 1994). Recently, much attention has been focused on the potential uses of flavonoid-based drugs for the prevention and therapy of free radical-mediated human diseases, such as atherosclerosis, ischemia, inflammation, neuronal degeneration, and cardiovascular diseases (Amic et al., 2003; Crespo et al., 2008; Gordon and Roedig-Penman, 1998; van Acker et al., 2000). In view of flavonoids' antioxidant and free radical scavenging properties, their biological activities have been studied intensively (Kahkonen et al., 1999; Montoro et al., 2005; Saric et al., 2009; Sugihara et al., 1999). Researchers are seeking for natural antioxidants with superior pharmacological effects



-28-

and less cytotoxic properties. Butin (7, 3', 4'-trihydroxydihydroflavone, Fig. 1) has been isolated from several medicinal herbs (Liu et al., 2005; Su et al., 2007; Tian et al., 2004) and reported to possess biological properties such as skin-whitening and anti-implantation activity (Lee et al., 2006). Recently, we demonstrated that butin provided protective effects against  $H_2O_2$ -induced apoptosis by scavenging ROS and activating antioxidant enzymes (Zhang et al., 2008), and protected against oxidative DNA damage via activation of PI3K/Akt/OGG1 pathway (Kang et al., 2009). However, as far as we know, few studies have reported on butin's protective properties against oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction, therefore, the present study is focused on this effect.



913

A

# 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 2.1. Reagents

Butin was purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Ind., Ltd. (Tokyo, Japan) and dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO); the final concentration of DMSO did not exceed 0.02%. The 5, 5-dimethyl-1-pyrroline-N-oxide (DMPO) was purchased from the Sigma Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO). Dihydrorhodamin 123 (DHR 123) and fluo-4-acetoxymethyl (AM) ester were purchased from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR). The other chemicals and reagents used were of analytical grade.

## 2.2. Cell culture

Chinese hamster lung fibroblasts (V79-4) cells from the American type culture collection (Rockville, MD) were maintained at 37 °C in an incubator, with a humidified atmosphere of 5%  $CO_2$  and cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum, streptomycin (100 µg/ml) and penicillin (100 units/ml).

## 2.3. Detection of superoxide radical

Superoxide radicals were produced via the xanthine/xanthine oxidase system and then reacted with the spin trap DMPO. The DMPO-OOH adducts were detected using an ESR spectrometer. ESR signaling was detected after 20  $\mu$ l of xanthine oxidase (0.25 U/ml) was mixed with 20  $\mu$ l of xanthine (5 mM), 20  $\mu$ l of DMPO (1.5 M), and 20  $\mu$ l of butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml. The ESR spectrometer parameters were set at a magnetic field of 336 mT, power of 5.00 mW, frequency of 9.4380 GHz, modulation amplitude of 0.2 mT, gain of 500, scan time of 0.5 min, scan width of 10 mT, time constant of 0.03 sec, and temperature of 25 °C.



#### 2.4. Detection of hydroxyl radical

The hydroxyl radicals were generated by the Fenton reaction ( $H_2O_2 + FeSO_4$ ), and then reacted with a nitrone spin trap, DMPO. The resultant DMPO-OH adducts was detected using an ESR spectrometer. The ESR spectrum was recorded using a JES-FA ESR spectrometer (JEOL, Tokyo, Japan), at 2.5 min after mixing with phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4) with 20  $\mu$ l of 0.3 M DMPO, 20  $\mu$ l of 10 mM FeSO<sub>4</sub>, 20  $\mu$ l of 10 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and 20  $\mu$ l of butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml. The ESR spectrometer parameters were set at a magnetic field of 336 mT, power of 1.00 mW, frequency of 9.4380 GHz, modulation amplitude of 0.2 mT, gain of 200, scan time of 0.5 min, scan width of 10 mT, time constant of 0.03 sec, and a temperature of 25 °C.

### 2.5. Mitochondrial ROS measurement

For image analysis of mitochondrial ROS generation, cells were seeded onto a coverslip loaded six well plate at  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/well. Sixteen hours after plating, cells were treated with butin at 10 µg/ml and 30 min later, 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate. After changing the media, 20 µM of DHR 123 was added to each well and the plate was incubated for an additional 30 min at 37 °C. After washing with PBS, the stained cells were mounted onto a microscope slide in mounting medium (DAKO, Carpinteria, CA). Images were collected using the Laser Scanning Microscope 5 PASCAL program (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany) on a confocal microscope. The level of mitochondrial ROS was also detected by flow cytometry. Cells were loaded for 30 min at 37 °C with 10 µM DHR 123 at indicated time and supernatant was removed by suction and after trypsin treatment, cells were washed with PBS. Fluorescence of DHR 123 loaded cells was measured using a flow cytometer. In addition, cells were seeded in a 96 well plate at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml, and 16 h after plating, were treated with 10 µg/ml butin and 30 min later 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate. Cells were incubated for an additional 30 min at 37 °C. After addition of 20 µM of DHR 123 solution for 10 min, the



fluorescence was detected using a Perkin Elmer LS-5B spectrofluorometer.

# 2.6. Intracelluar Ca<sup>2+</sup> measurement

Intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> was detected with the fluorescent probe fluo-4-AM. Cells were loaded for 30 min at 37 °C with 10  $\mu$ M fluo-4-AM and supernatant was removed by suction and after trypsin treatment, cells were washed with PBS. Fluorescence of fluo-4-AM loaded cells was measured using a flow cytometer.

#### 2.7. Quantification of cellular ATP levels

Mitochondrial function was evaluated by measuring the cellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production in cells. Cells were harvested and washed twice with PBS. Harvested cells were then lysed on ice for 30 min in 200  $\mu$ l of lysis buffer [25 mM Tris (pH 7.8), 270 mM sucrose, 1 mM EDTA] by sonicating three times for 15 sec and centrifuged at 4 °C for 10 min at 16,000 × g. Supernatants were collected from the lysates and ATP content was assayed using a luciferase/luciferin ATP determination kit (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR).

# 2.8. Succinate dehydrogenase activity measurement

The effect of butin on mitochondrial succinate dehydrogenase activity was determined by MTT [3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide] assay (Carmichael et al., 1987). Cells were seeded in a 96 well plate at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml, and 16 h after plating, were treated with butin at 10 µg/ml, and 1 h later 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate and incubated for an additional 24 h at 37 °C. Fifty microliter of MTT stock solution (2 mg/ml) was then added to each well of a total reaction volume of 200 µl. After incubating for 4 h, the plate was centrifuged at 800 × g for 5 min and the supernatants aspirated. The formazan crystals in each well were dissolved in 150 µl DMSO and the A540 read on a scanning multi-



well spectrophotometer.

## 2.9. Statistical analysis

Results are represented as the mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). The results were subjected to an analysis of the variance (ANOVA) using the Tukey test to analyze the difference. p<0.05 were considered significant.





# 3. RESULTS

#### 3.1. Radical scavenging activity of butin in a cell-free system

Butin's scavenging effects on the superoxide radicals and the hydroxyl radicals were measured by ESR spectrometry. The ESR data showed no clearly detectable, specific signal in the control or in the 10  $\mu$ g/ml of butin; however, the superoxide radical signal increased up to a value of 1077 in the xanthine/xanthine oxidase system. Butin treatment decreased the superoxide radical signal to a value of 445 (Fig. 6A). Consistent with its superoxide radical scavenging activity, butin treatment was also reduced hydroxyl radical generation by the Fenton reaction (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> + FeSO<sub>4</sub>) (Fig. 6B). Butin treatment reduced hydroxyl radicals to a level of 3573 as compared to a level of 4893 of in FeSO<sub>4</sub> + H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> system. These results suggest that butin is an effective free radical scavenger.



**Fig.6.** The scavenging activity of butin on superoxide and hydroxyl radicals. (A) Superoxide radicals generated by the xanthine and xanthine oxidase were spin-trapped with DMPO, and the resultant DMPO-OOH adducts were detected by ESR spectrometry.

Collection @ jeju



**Fig.6. continued.** (B) Hydroxyl radicals generated by the Fenton reaction  $(H_2O_2 + FeSO_4)$  were spin-trapped with DMPO, and the resultant DMPO-OH adducts were detected by ESR spectrometry.

1952

I



1 :

-35-

#### 3.2. The effect of butin on mitochondrial ROS scavenging activity

Butin's free radical-scavenging effect on the mitochondrial ROS in V79-4 cells was detected by means of DHR 123 fluorescence dye. Analysis of confocal microscope revealed that butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml reduced the red fluorescence intensity of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced mitochondrial ROS as shown in Fig. 7A. In addition, the level of mitochondrial ROS detected by flow cytometry revealed a fluorescence intensity value of 41 in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells with butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml, compared to a fluorescence intensity value of 120 in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells (Fig. 7B), thus reflecting a reduction in ROS generation. The fluorescence spectrometric data revealed that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment increased the level of mitochondrial ROS compared to control. However, butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml treatment attenuated the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced ROS increase (Fig. 7C). These data suggest that butin is a scavenger of mitochondrial ROS.



**Fig.7.** The effect of butin on  $H_2O_2$ -induced mitochondrial ROS generation. (A) Cells were treated with butin at 10 µg/ml. After 1 h, 1 mM  $H_2O_2$  was added to the plate. After changing the media, 20 µM of DHR 123 was added to each well and the plate was incubated for an additional 30 min at 37°C. The representative confocal images illustrate the increase in red fluorescence intensity of DHR 123 produced by ROS in  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells as compared to the control and the lowered fluorescence intensity in  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells with butin (original magnification × 400).





**Fig.7. continued.** The mitochondrial ROS generated was detected by flow cytometry (B), and spectrofluorometry (C) after the DHR 123 treatment. FI indicates the fluorescence intensity of DHR 123. The measurements were made in triplicate and the values were expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM. \*Significantly different from control cells (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated cells (p<0.05).

# 3.3. The effect of butin on intracellular $Ca^{2+}$

ROS can induce  $Ca^{2+}$  release from the mitochondria and result in an increase of cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  levels, which may target to cell apoptotic death. As shown in Fig 8, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells with butin revealed a fluorescence intensity value of 58, as compared to a fluorescence intensity value of 92 in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells. These data suggest that butin reduces intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  level induced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment.



**Fig.8.** The effect of butin on intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels. Cells pretreated with butin at 10 µg/ml, and 1 h later, 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was treated. And then cells were harvested and treated with fluorescent probe fluo-4-AM (10 µM).  $Ca^{2+}$  levels were detected by flow cytometry. FI indicates the fluorescence intensity of fluo-4-AM.



3.4. The effect of butin on intracellular ATP levels and succinate dehydrogenase activity

Mitochondrial injury is followed by the depletion of intracellular ATP levels. As shown in Fig. 9A,  $H_2O_2$  treatment reduced the ATP levels as compared to control, however,  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells with butin treatment recovered the ATP levels, suggesting butin has a protective effect against  $H_2O_2$ -induced loss of intracellular ATP levels. These data suggest that butin restores mitochondrial function by preventing the loss of mitochondrial membrane integrity. Succinate dehydrogenase is an enzyme existing in the mitochondrial respiratory chain, and its activity was assessed by MTT assay. As shown in Fig. 9B, a combination of butin at 10 µg/ml and  $H_2O_2$  enhanced succinate dehydrogenase activity to 52%, as compared to 32% in  $H_2O_2$  treated cells. Taken together, these results indicate butin recovers mitochondrial function damaged by  $H_2O_2$  treatment through preventing loss of ATP levels and of succinate dehydrogenase activity.



**Fig.9.** The effects of butin on intracellular ATP levels and succinate dehydrogenase activity. (A) ATP content was assayed using a luciferase/luciferin ATP determination kit. \*Significantly different from control cells (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated cells (p<0.05).

Collection @ jeju



Fig.9. continued. (B) Succinate dehydrogenase activity was detected by MTT assay. \*Significantly different from control cells (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from  $H_2O_2$  treated cells (p<0.05).

1952

III.

11:

В

-40-

## 4. DISCUSSION

Mitochondria contributes to a number of different processes in living cells, such as ATP synthesis by oxidative phosphorylation, the production of ROS, and  $Ca^{2+}$  uptake and release (Pedersen, 1999), of which the most important is ATP synthesis by oxidative phosphorylation (Saraste, 1999). Oxidative phosphorylation is a major source of endogenous, toxic free radicals, including  $H_2O_2$ ,  $OH_2$ , and  $O_2^{-1}$ , which are products of normal cellular respiration (Wallace, 1999). With inhibition of electron transport, electrons accumulate in the early stages of the electron transport chain, where they may be donated directly to molecular oxygen, to give the superoxide radical  $O_2^{-}$ . Superoxide anions are detoxified to  $H_2O_2$  by the mitochondrial Mn superoxide dismutase (Mn SOD).  $H_2O_2$  is converted to water by catalase and glutathione peroxidase. However, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> can convert to toxic hydroxyl radicals in the presence of reduced transition metals, via the Fenton and/or Haber-Weiss reactions. Multiple classes of macromolecules are altered by free radicals, including proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids. ROS generated as a consequence of ATP production in the mitochondria are important for cellular signaling, and therefore they contribute to oxidative stress and cellular damage. ROS regulate the activity of redox-sensitive enzymes and ion channels within the cell, including Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Feissner et al., 2009). Calcium is a key regulator of mitochondrial function and acts at several levels within the organelle to stimulate ATP synthesis (Feissner et al., 2009).  $Ca^{2+}$ released from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) enters mitochondria leading to depolarization of the inner membrane, cytochrome c release, and activation of Apaf-1 (apoptosis protease-activating factor 1)/procaspase-9-regulated apoptosis (Crompton 1999; Boya et al., 2002). Numerous data have shown that the elevation of cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  is sufficient to induce apoptosis in many different cell types (Takadera and Ohyashiki, 1997; Nakamura et al., 2000). In our result, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> increased the Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels,

Collection @ jeju

and butin inhibited the release of  $Ca^{2+}$  from mitochondria. For  $Ca^{2+}$  and ROS, a delicate balance exists between beneficial and detrimental effects on mitochondria. Mitochondrial succinate dehydrogenase, which catalyses the oxidation of succinate to fumarate in the Krebs cycle, is a crucial mitochondrial antioxidant enzyme, controlling the superoxide-scavenging activity in the respiratory chain (Rustin et al., 2002). In our result, the  $Ca^{2+}$  level in cells treated by oxidative stress inducer,  $H_2O_2$  showed higher than control cells, and accordingly, induced a mitochondrial calcium influx, and mitochondrial degradation. The ATP production and succinate dehydrogenase activity in the respiratory chain was decreased by  $H_2O_2$  treatment. Impaired mitochondrial function exposed to  $H_2O_2$  was restored by butin.

Flavonoids like butin are known to possess powerful antioxidant properties, which are attributed to the presence of phenolic hydroxyl groups in the flavonoid structure. They unually contain one or more aromatic hydroxyl groups, and this moiety is responsible for the antioxidant activity of the flavonoid (van Acker et al., 2000). The results of radical scavenging activity of butin were consistent with its intrinsic feature of chemical structure, meaning potential application for health. Antioxidants are generally categorized by primary and secondary antioxidant. Primary antioxidants are capable of interrupting and terminating the free radical propagation step via proton transfer to radical species. Secondary antioxidants are chemicals that can prevent free radical formation. The main secondary antioxidants are metal chelators (Shao et al., 2008). It is known that flavonids have antioxidant activity by a free radical scavenging mechanism with the formation of less reactive phenoxyl radicals by donation of electron or hydrogen (Arora et al., 1998; Seyoum et al., 2006), meaning primary prevention of oxidative stress. Another antioxidant mechanism is based on the ability to chelate transition metal like iron, thereby suppressing the hydrogen peroxide-driven Fenton reaction. For example, one of the well known radical scavengers, quercetin showed highly effective chelating activity on transition metals (Soczynska-Kordala et al., 2001). The antioxidant of



butin might be related with combination of metal chelation and free radical-scavenging activities. To our understanding, butin might be ambidextrous antioxidant for bearing primary and secondary feature of antioxidant. Thus, butin might have potential application for either foods or pharmaceutical supplements. Further investigation on the contribution of metal chelation to the antioxidant activity of butin is remained for further study. The influence of metal chelation on the antioxidant activity of butin needs to be compared in biological relevant assay system between dependent and independent of metal individually.

Natural flavonoids are emerging as potent therapeutic drugs for free radical-mediated diseases. For example, isoliquiritigenin, baicalein, naringin, and catechin have demonstrated neuroprotective effects through the inhibition of ROS, suggesting that these are potential pharmacological agents for the treatment of Parkinson's disease (Guo et al., 2007; Zhan and Yang, 2006). Also, it is well known that the generation of mitochondrial ROS plays an important role in mitochondrial dysfunction through the disruption of redox homeostasis (Brunelle and Chandel, 2002). Recently, we demonstrated that butin possesses antioxidant properties and cytoprotective effects against oxidative stress (Zhang et al., 2008; Kang et al., 2009). Therefore, in the present study, we focused on butin's effect on mitochondrial dysfunction induced by oxidative stress. Many of different clinical mechanisms of flavonoids have been related with their antioxidant properties, either through their reducing capacities or through influencing on intracellular components. The precise mechanisms by which flavonoids exert their beneficial or toxic actions remain unclear (Arora et al., 2000; Williams et al., 2004). However there is increasing interest in the research of flavonids, due to growing evidence of the health benefits of flavonoids through epidemiological studies. Many flavonoids are shown to have antioxidant activity, coronary heart desease prevention, anti-inflammation, oestrogenic activity, anticancer activity, and other biological activities (Harborne and Williams, 2000; Yao et al., 2004). As such research progresses, potential application of flavonoids in either foods or



-43-

pharmaceutical supplements will expand. Considering butin's reduction of mitochondrial dysfunction, it might give a hopeful picture for the mitochondria related diseases such as aging, diabetes, and neurological diseases for the initial step of clinical trial and development of raw materials of medicine. Accrodingly, an appropriate system for assessment of intake of butin needs to be developed for further study.

In the present study, the antioxidant activity of butin in V79-4 cells was evaluated in two categories: direct action on superoxide and hydroxyl radical scavenging in a cell-free system, as shown by ESR spectrometry, and indirect action through induction of mitochondrial antioxidant enzyme. Butin balanced intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels, recovered the decreased ATP levels, and enhanced succinate dehydrogenase activity via superoxide and hydroxyl radical-scavenging activities.



913

EI

# PART III

Butin (7, 3', 4'-Trihydroxydihydroflavone) Reduced Oxidative

Stress-Induced Cell Death via Inhibition of the Mitochondria-

Dependent Apoptotic Pathway





# ABSTRACT

The objective of this study was to investigate the cytoprotective effects of butin (7, 3', 4'trihydroxydihydroflavone) on oxidative stress-induced apoptosis, and the possible mechanisms involved. Butin significantly reduced hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>)-induced loss of the mitochondrial membrane potential ( $\Delta \psi_m$ ), the alteration of Bcl-2 family proteins, the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria into the cytosol and the activation of caspase 9 and caspase 3. Furthermore, the anti-apoptotic effect of butin was exerted via inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase-4 (MKK4/SEK1), c-Jun NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal kinase (JNK) and activator protein-1 (AP-1) cascades induced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment. Finally, butin exhibited protective effects against H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced apoptosis, as demonstrated by decreased apoptotic bodies, sub-G<sub>1</sub> levels and DNA fragmentation. In conclusion, our results suggest that butin exerts its cytoprotective effects via inhibiting the mitochondria-dependent apoptotic pathway.

Keywords: Butin • Oxidative stress • Mitochondria-dependent apoptotic pathway

¥ 3



H IL

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Oxidative stress mediated by reactive oxygen species (ROS) has been implicated as a major cause of cellular damage and contributed to inflammation, aging, cancer, arteriosclerosis, hypertension and diabetes (Koblyakov, 2001; Loeb et al., 2005; Schumacker, 2006; Lubos et al., 2008; Harrison et al., 2009; Pennathre and Heinecke, 2007). Persistent ROS elevation is a result of an imbalance between ROS production and scavenging by endogenous antioxidants that directly or indirectly disturb physiological functions of many cellular macromolecules, such as DNA, proteins and lipids (Droge, 2002) that ultimately induce cell death either by apoptosis or necrosis (Kannan and Jain, 2000). Mitochondrial dysfunction results in increased ROS production that enhances oxidative stress if the cellular defense systems are overwhelmed (Jezek and Hlavata, 2005). Previous studies have indicated that ROS can alter intracellular redox state, change the inner mitochondrial membrane potential  $(\Delta \psi_m)$  and release soluble inter-membrane proteins from the mitochondria into the cytosol, including cytochrome c (Green and Reed, 1998; Li et al., 2000). It is also well known that ROS plays a crucial role in triggering the mitochondria-mediated apoptosis pathway, which is associated with activation of caspase cascades and the family of Bcl-2 proteins (Park et al., 2003; Nicholson and Thornberry, 1997; Adams and Cory, 1998).

Flavonoids are a group of naturally occurring polyphenolic compounds ubiquitously found in fruits and vegetables, and represent substantial constituents of the non-energetic part of the human diet. Butin (7, 3', 4'-trihydroxydihydroflavone) is one of the most widely distributed flavonoids, reported to be potent antioxidants beneficial against oxidative stress-related diseases, such as cancer, aging, liver diseases and diabetes (Brusselmans et al., 2005; Patil et al., 2003; Kuzu et al., 2008; Shu et al., 2009). Butin was isolated from several medicinal herbs (Jang et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2005; Su et al., 2007; Tian et al., 2004) and reported to have skin-



-47-

whitening and antioxidant activity (Bhargava, 1986; Lee et al., 2006). In a previous report, we demonstrated that butin protected cells against hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis by scavenging ROS and activating antioxidant enzymes (Zhang et al., 2008), decreased oxidative stress-induced 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine levels via activation of oxoguanine glycosylase 1 (Kang et al., 2009), and reduced oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction via ROS scavenging (Zhang et al., 2010). To extend our previous investigations on butin's effect on mitochondria mediated cell damage induced by oxidative stress (Zhang et al., 2010), we focused on the protective effect of butin against oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial mediated apoptosis, and the possible underlying mechanisms involved in this present study.



913

E IL

# 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1. Reagents

Butin (Fig. 1) was purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Ind., Ltd. (Tokyo, Japan). The 5, 5', 6, 6'-tetrachloro-1, 1', 3, 3'-tetraethyl-benzimidazolylcarbocyanine iodide (JC-1) was purchased from the Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). The primary anti-Bcl-2, -Bax, -phospho Bcl-2, and -cytochrome c antibodies were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). Primary anti-caspase 9, -caspase 3, -JNK, -phospho JNK, -SEK1, and -phospho SEK1 antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Beverly, MA). A plasmid containing AP-1 binding site-luciferase construct was a generous gift from Professor Young Joon Surh of Seoul National University (Seoul, Korea). Propidium iodide and Hoechst 33342 were purchased from the Sigma Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO).

### 2.2. Cell culture

Chinese hamster lung fibroblasts (V79-4 cells) from the American type culture collection were maintained at 37 °C in an incubator, with a humidified atmosphere of 5%  $CO_2$  and cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum, streptomycin (100 µg/ml) and penicillin (100 units/ml).

#### 2.3. Mitochondrial membrane potential ( $\Delta \psi_m$ ) analysis

 $\Delta \psi_m$  analysis was determined by confocal image analysis and flow cytometer. Cells were treated with butin at 10 µg/ml, and after 1 h, 1 mM of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate, and the mixture was incubated for 24 h. Cells were then harvested, and after changing the media, JC-1 was added to each well and was incubated for an additional 30 min at 37 °C. After washing with PBS, the stained cells were mounted onto microscope slide in mounting medium (DAKO,



Carpinteria, CA). Microscopic images were collected using the Laser Scanning Microscope 5 PASCAL program (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany) on confocal microscope (Cossarizza et al., 1993). In addition,  $\Delta \psi_m$  analysis was also determined by flow cytometer. The cells were harvested, washed and suspended in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing JC-1 (10 µg/ml). After incubation for 15 min at 37 °C, the cells were washed and were suspended in PBS and were analyzed by flow cytometer (Troiano et al., 2007).

# 2.4. Western blot analysis

Cells were harvested, washed twice with PBS, lysed on ice for 30 min in 100  $\mu$ l of a lysis buffer [120 mM NaCl, 40 mM Tris (pH 8), 0.1% NP 40] and then centrifuged at 13,000 × g for 15 min. The supernatants were collected from the lysates and the protein concentrations determined. Aliquots of the lysates (40  $\mu$ g of protein) were boiled for 5 min and electrophoresed in 10% sodium dodecysulfate-polyacrylamide gel. The blots in the gels were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA), which were then incubated with the primary antibodies. The membranes were further incubated with the secondary immunoglobulin-G-horseradish peroxidase conjugates (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Protein bands were detected using an enhanced chemiluminescence Western blotting detection kit (Amersham, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK), and then exposed onto X-ray film.

#### 2.5. Preparation of the nuclear extract and electrophoretic mobility shift assay

Cells were harvested, and subsequently lysed on ice with 1 ml of lysis buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.9, 10 mM NaCl, 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 1% NP-40) for 4 min. After 10 min of centrifugation at 3,000 × g, the pellets were resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l of extraction buffer (20 mM HEPES, pH 7.9, 20% glycerol, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.2 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, and 1 mM PMSF), incubated on ice for 30 min and centrifuged at 13,000 × g for 5 min. The supernatant (nuclear



protein) was stored at -70 °C after determining the protein concentration. Oligonucleotides containing transcription factor AP-1 consensus sequence (5'- CGC TTG ATG ACT CAG CCG GAA - 3') were annealed, labeled with  $[\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P] ATP using T4 polynucleotide kinase and used as probes. The probes (50,000 cpm) were incubated with 6 µg of the nuclear extracts at 4 °C for 30 min, to reach a final volume of 20 µl, containing 12.5% glycerol, 12.5 mM HEPES (pH 7.9), 4 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.9), 60 mM KCl, 1 mM EDTA, and 1 mM DTT with 1 µg of poly (dI-dC). The binding products were resolved on 5% polyacrylamide gel and the bands were visualized by autoradiography.

#### 2.6. Transient transfection and AP-1 luciferase assay

Cells were transiently transfected with plasmid harboring the AP-1 promoter using DOTAP as the transfection reagent, according to the manufacturer's protocol (Roche Diagnostics). Following overnight transfection, cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ g/ml of butin for 24 h. Cells were washed twice with PBS and lysed with reporter lysis buffer (Promega, Madison, WI). Following vortex mixing and centrifugation at 12,000 × g for 1 min at 4 °C, the supernatant was stored at -70 °C for the luciferase assay. After mixing 20  $\mu$ l of cell extract with 100  $\mu$ l of luciferase assay reagent at room temperature, the mixture was placed in an illuminometer to measure the light produced.

#### 2.7. Nuclear staining with Hoechst 33342

Cells were treated with butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml. After 1 h, 1 mM of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate and the mixture was incubated for 24 h. 1.5  $\mu$ l of Hoechst 33342 (stock 10 mg/ml), a DNA specific fluorescent dye, was added to each well and incubated for 10 min at 37 °C. The stained cells were then observed under a fluorescent microscope, which was equipped with a CoolSNAP-Pro color digital camera, in order to examine the degree of nuclear condensation.



#### 2.8. Detection of apoptotic sub-G<sub>1</sub> hypodiploid cells

The amount of apoptotic sub- $G_1$  hypodiploid cells was determined using flow cytometer (Nicoletti et al., 1991). Cells were harvested and fixed in 1 ml of 70% ethanol for 30 min at 4 °C. The cells were then washed twice with PBS, and incubated for 30 min in the dark at 37 °C in 1 ml of PBS containing 100 µg of propidium iodide and 100 µg of RNase A. A flow cytometric analysis was performed using a FACS Calibur flow cytometer. Sub- $G_1$  hypodiploid cells were assessed based on histograms generated by the Cell Quest and Mod-Fit computer programs.

### 2.9. DNA fragmentation

Cellular DNA-fragmentation was assessed by analyzing cytoplasmic histone-associated DNA fragmentation, using a kit from Roche Diagnostics (Portland, OR) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

### 2.10. Statistical analysis

All measurements were performed in triplicate and all values were represented as the mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). The results were subjected to an analysis of variance (ANOVA) using the Tukey's test to analyze difference. P<0.05 were considered statistically significant.



# 3. RESULTS

#### 3.1. Effect of butin on H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced $\Delta \psi_m$ depolarization

In a previous report, we have indicated that butin protected against H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2008). Change in  $\Delta \psi_m$  was examined to improve understanding on butin's protection mechanism for H2O2-induced apoptotic process in terms of mitochondrial involvement. The mitochondria are instrumental in oxidative phosphorylation, cell death regulation and ROS production (Orrenius et al., 2007; Ott et al., 2007). JC-1 is a cationic dye that indicates mitochondrial polarization by shifting its fluorescence emission from green (~525 nm) to red (~590 nm). As shown in Fig. 10A, control cells and butin-treated cells exhibited strong red fluorescence (JC-1 aggregated form, indicative of mitochondrial polarization) in the mitochondria. However, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> resulted in reducing red fluorescence and increasing green fluorescence (JC-1 monomer form, indicative of mitochondrial depolarization) in the mitochondria. Butin treatment blocked reducing red fluorescence and increasing green fluorescence in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells. Image analysis data was consistent with flow cytometric data; the level of  $\Delta \psi_m$  loss was increased in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells, as substantiated by an increase in fluorescence with JC-1 dye. However, butin recovered the level of  $\Delta \psi_m$  loss (Fig. 10B), suggesting that but in inhibited loss of  $\Delta \psi_m$  in response to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment.



-53-



**Fig.10.** Effects of butin on H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced  $\Delta \psi_m$  depolarization.  $\Delta \psi_m$  was analyzed by (A) confocal microscope and (B) flow cytometer after staining cells with JC-1.

Collection @ jeju

#### 3.2. Effect of butin on apoptosis related proteins

To further understand the protection mechanism of butin on  $H_2O_2$ -induced apoptotic process, we detected the protein expressions involved in mitochondria related apoptosis. Beforehand, changes in Bcl-2 expression, an anti-apoptotic protein, and Bax expression, a pro-apoptotic protein, were examined. As shown in Fig. 11A, butin showed an increase in Bcl-2 expression and a decrease in Bax expression in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells. It has been reported that Bcl-2 fails to inhibit cell apoptosis when inactivated via phosphorylation (Adams and Cory, 1998; Shimada et al., 2003). We noticed that butin also decreased phosphorylation of Bcl-2 (Ser 87) induced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment. During the apoptotic process, Bcl-2 prevented the opening of the mitochondrial membrane pore, whereas Bax induced the opening of membrane pore (Zamzami et al., 1995). Pore opening induces loss of  $\Delta \psi_m$ , which in turn induces the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria (Zamzami et al., 1996; Cai et al., 1998). As shown in Fig. 11B, butin inhibited the release of mitochondrial cytochrome c. Next, caspase 9 activity was examined by Western blot since it is known that this enzyme is activated due to mitochondrial membrane disruption (Perkins et al., 2000). As shown in Fig. 11C, treatment of cells with butin inhibited H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>induced active form of caspase 9 (39 and 37 kDa) and caspase 3 (19 and 17 kDa), a target of caspase 9. These results suggest that butin protects cells from apoptosis by inhibiting the DI IE caspase dependent pathway via mitochondria.





**Fig.11.** Effects of butin on mitochondrial apoptosis related proteins. Western blot analysis was performed. Cell lysates were electrophoresed and (A) Bax, Bcl-2, phospho Bcl-2, (B) cytochrome c, (C) active caspase 9, and active caspase 3 proteins were detected by their specific antibodies.



#### 3.3. Effect of butin on the SEK1-JNK-AP-1 signaling pathway

As the JNK signal pathway plays an important role in oxidative stress-induced apoptosis (Inanami et al., 1999), we tested whether butin regulates this signaling pathway. As shown in Fig. 12A, treatment with butin inhibited JNK activation in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells. Moreover, SEK1 is known to be an upstream component in the JNK signaling pathway (Mann et al., 2006). To investigate whether this upstream kinase plays a role in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced JNK activation, SEK1 phosphorylation was determined by Western blot analysis. As shown in Fig. 12B, SEK1 phosphorylation levels were increased in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells. However, treatment of cells with butin inhibited H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced SEK1 phosphorylation. AP-1 is a downstream target of the phospho-JNK pathway, and activated AP-1 is involved in cell death including apoptosis (Whitmarshm and Davis, 1996). Subsequently, we examined the effect of butin treatment on the DNA binding activity of AP-1 after H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment. As shown in Fig. 12C, AP-1 DNA binding activity was increased in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated cells, whereas treatment of cells with butin inhibited AP-1 activity. The transcriptional activity of AP-1 was also assessed using a promoter construct containing AP-1 binding DNA consensus sequences, which were linked to a luciferase reporter gene. As shown in Fig. 12D, treatment of cells with butin inhibited the transcriptional activity of AP-1 induced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. These results suggest that butin inhibits H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced apoptosis via suppression of the SEK1-JNK-AP-1 pathway.





**Fig.12.** Effects of butin on  $H_2O_2$ -induced SEK1-JNK-AP-1 activation. Cell lysates were electrophoresed and the cell lysates were immunoblotted using (A) anti-JNK, phospho JNK and (B) -phospho SEK1 and -SEK1 antibodies.

1952

I



9 3



**Fig.12. continued.** (C) AP-1 specific oligonucleotide-protein complexes were detected by the electrophoresis mobility shift assay. (D) The transcriptional activity of AP-1 was assessed using plasmid containing an AP-1 binding site-luciferase construct. \*Significantly different from control (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from  $H_2O_2$  treated cells (p<0.05).

Collection @ jeju
#### 3.4. Effect of butin against H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced apoptosis

In order to confirm the cytoprotective impact of butin on  $H_2O_2$ -induced apoptosis, cell nuclei were stained with Hoechst 33342 for visualization by microscopy. The microscopic images in Fig. 13A demonstrate that the control cells had intact nuclei, whereas  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells showed significant nuclear fragmentation, a characteristic of apoptosis. However, butinpretreated cells exhibited a dramatic decrease in nuclear fragmentation. In addition to morphological evaluation, the protective effect of butin against apoptosis was also confirmed by apoptotic sub-G<sub>1</sub> DNA analysis. As shown in Fig. 13B, an analysis of DNA content in  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells revealed a 36% increase in the apoptotic sub-G<sub>1</sub> DNA content. However, butin decreased the apoptotic sub-G<sub>1</sub> DNA content to 16%. Furthermore,  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells increased the levels of cytoplasmic histone-associated DNA fragmentations as compared to control, and butin significantly decreased the level of DNA fragmentation (Fig. 13C).



**Fig.13.** Effects of butin on  $H_2O_2$ -induced apoptosis. (A) Apoptotic body formation was observed under a fluorescence microscope after Hoechst 33342 staining and arrows indicate apoptotic bodies.

Collection @ jeju



**Fig.13. continued.** (B) The apoptotic sub- $G_1$  DNA content was detected by a flow cytometry after propidium iodide staining. (C) DNA fragmentation was quantified by ELISA kit. The measurements were made in triplicate and values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SE. \*Significantly different from control cells (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells (p<0.05).

# 4. DISCUSSION

In general, apoptosis is triggered through two distinct pathways: one is the extrinsic pathway involved death receptor signaling, the other is intrinsic pathway involving the mitochondrial cascades (Henry-Mowatt, 2004). Mitochondria have been shown to play a pivotal role in the apoptotic process because both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways can converge at the mitochondrial level and trigger mitochondrial membrane permeabilization (Green and Reed, 1998). Bcl-2 family proteins are central regulators of the intrinsic pathway, which either suppress or promote changes in mitochondrial membrane permeability required for the release of cytochrome c (Green and Reed, 1998; Gross et al., 1999). The release of mitochondrial cytochrome c is a signal event in the intrinsic apoptotic activation pathway. Cytochrome c binds to Apaf-1 and pro-caspase 9 to form the apoptosome, activating caspase 9, the primary caspase involved in the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. Various studies have suggested possible mechanisms for the JNK pathway also related to mitochondrial depolarization and apoptosis induction. It has been reported that JNK translocates to the mitochondrial, then phosphorylates Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL, anti-apoptotic members of Bcl-2 family, and presumably inactivates them (Fan et al., 2000). In addition, JNK induces the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis by activating Bim and Bax, pro-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family (Malhi et al., 2006).

The depolarization of  $\Delta \psi_m$  and the loss of cytochrome c from the mitochondrial intermembrane space have been proposed as the early events during apoptotic cell death (Kroemer and Reed, 2000). In our case, treatment of cells with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> resulted in significant collapse of  $\Delta \psi_m$ , however, treatment with butin recovered H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced depolarization of  $\Delta \psi_m$ . In addition, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment dramatically induced increase in Bax expression and decrease in Bcl-2 expression, suggesting that changes in the pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family



-62-

proteins may contribute to apoptosis. Moreover, elevation of phosphor Bcl-2 by  $H_2O_2$  treatment further helps to reduce its ability to bind with Bax and enhance translocation of Bax from the cytosol to mitochondria, leading to an enhanced susceptibility of the cells to apoptosis (Ishikawa et al., 2003; Zu et al., 2005). Butin significantly restored these changes induced by  $H_2O_2$ . These results confirmed that butin inhibited  $H_2O_2$ -induced apoptosis associated with regulation of Bcl-2 family proteins. Changes in caspase 9 and caspase 3 protein expressions were evaluated for the underlying mechanisms, as the Bcl-2 protein can prevent activation of caspases during apoptosis (Ling et al., 2002), and cleaved caspase 9 and caspase 3 represent downstream signals of apoptosis (Budihardjo et al., 1999). We confirmed butin inhibited  $H_2O_2$ -induced activation of caspase 9 and caspase 3.

SEK1-JNK-AP-1 activation has been suggested as a critical component in the oxidative stress induced apoptosis process (Karin et al., 1997). Butin inhibited  $H_2O_2$ -induced JNK phosphorylation, resulting in a decrease of AP-1 activity.  $H_2O_2$ -induced phosphorylation of SEK1, an upstream regulator of JNK, was also attenuated by butin treatment. These results demonstrated that butin attenuated  $H_2O_2$ -induced apoptosis through the SEK1-JNK-AP-1 pathway. Treatment of cells with butin showed anti-apoptotic activity in cells exposed to  $H_2O_2$ , as shown by reduction of the distinct morphological features of apoptosis, such as apoptotic bodies formation, sub G<sub>1</sub>-hypodiploid cells levels and nuclear fragmentation.

Taken together, the protective effect of butin against  $H_2O_2$ -induced apoptosis was exerted via blockage of membrane potential depolarization, inhibition of the JNK and mitochondria involved caspase-dependent apoptosis pathways. Therefore, we suggest that inhibition of these pathways by butin may provide oxidative stress protection (Fig. 14).





⊢— Butin

JNK activation

Loss of ∆ψ<sub>m</sub>

Translocation of cytochrome c

**Caspases** activation

Apoptosis

Fig.14. A proposed cyto-protective pathway of butin, which explains its properties against oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial involved apoptosis.



# PART IV

Cytoprotective Effect of Butin (7, 3', 4'-Trihydroxydihydroflavone) against Hydrogen Peroxide-Induced Oxidative Stress Is Mediated by Up-Regulation of Manganese Superoxide Dismutase Expression through PI3K/Akt/Nrf2 Dependent





# ABSTRACT

Butin is a common flavonoid with antioxidant activity. The objective of the present study is to elucidate the cytoprotective effect of butin and its underlying mechanisms. Manganese superoxide dismutase (Mn SOD) is an important antioxidant enzyme against oxidative stress. Butin recovered Mn SOD expression both at the level of mRNA and protein in Chinese hamster lung fibroblast (V79-4) cells which were abolished by hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) treatment, thus resulted in the increase of Mn SOD activity. The transcription factor NF-E2related factor 2 (Nrf2) is a critical regulator of Mn SOD, achieved by binding to the antioxidant response element (ARE). Butin enhanced the level of nuclear translocation and ARE binding activity of Nrf2 which was decreased by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Specific Nrf2 siRNA attenuated Mn SOD expression, while butin recovered it. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (PKB, Akt) contributed to ARE-driven Mn SOD expression. Butin activated PI3K/Akt, and treatment with LY294002 (a PI3K inhibitor), Akt inhibitor IV (an Akt specific inhibitor), and specific Akt siRNA suppressed the butin-induced activation of Nrf2, resulting in a decrease of Mn SOD expression. Butin treatment enhanced the Mn SOD protein expression which was knockdown by Mn SOD siRNA. DEDTC (a Mn SOD inhibitor) and Mn SOD siRNA markedly abolished the cytoprotective effect of butin against H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced cell damage. These studies demonstrate that butin attenuates oxidative stress by activating Nrf2-mediated Mn SOD induction via PI3K/Akt signaling pathway.

Keywords: Butin • Manganese superoxide dismutase • NF-E2-related factor 2 • Cytoprotection
Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B

Collection @ jeju

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Oxidative stress resulting from the increase of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and/or concomitant decline in antioxidant scavenging capacity may damage proteins, lipids, nucleic acids and other cellular components (Valko et al., 2006). Because ROS formation is a naturally occurring process, mammalian cells have developed several adaptive mechanisms to prevent ROS formation or to detoxify ROS. These mechanisms employ molecules called antioxidants as well as protective enzymes (Chen and Kunsch, 2004). Cytoprotective enzymes provide a major mechanism by which cells combat the toxicities of ROS and their induction is also highly effective and sufficient for protecting cells against oxidative stress as well as the toxic and neoplastic effects of many toxicants and carcinogens (Rushmore and Kong, 2002; Droge, 2002). Among the various cytoprotective enzymes, the protective functions of manganese superoxide dismutase (Mn SOD) have recently been emphasized (Macmillan-Crow and Cruthirds, 2001; Belikova et al., 2009).

Mn SOD, the primary antioxidant enzyme that scavenges superoxide radicals in mitochondria, is essential for the survival of aerobic life (Weisiger and Fridovich, 1973). Lack of Mn SOD expression results in dilated ventricular cardiomyopathy, neonatal lethality, and neurodegeneration (Li et al., 1995; Lebovitz et al., 1996). Overexpression of Mn SOD has been shown to protect against oxidative stress-induced cell death and tissue injury (Yen et al., 1999; Kiningham et al., 1999). Transcriptional regulation of Mn SOD is predominantly mediated by a redox-sensitive transcription factor NF-E2 related factor-2 (Nrf2) (Na et al., 2008). The function of Nrf2 is regulated by its dissociation from the cytoskeleton-associated protein Keap1, which acts as a cytoplasmic repressor of Nrf2. When Nrf2 dissociates from Keap1, Nrf2 can translocate to the nucleus, where it interacts with other transcription factors, binds to the antioxidant responsive element (ARE) (Nguyen et al., 2003). The ARE is a *cis*-



-67-

acting enhancer sequence that mediates transcriptional activation of Nrf2 in response to oxidative stress (Rushmore et al., 1991). It is found in the promoter region of genes encoding many antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD),  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine synthetase ( $\gamma$ -GCS) and heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) (Dreger et al., 2009; Li et al., 2006; Wild et al., 1999; Alam et al., 1999). Therefore, genes regulated by the ARE encode proteins maintain the cellular redox status and protect the cells from oxidative damage (Hayes and McLellan, 1999). Recent results have demonstrated that Nrf2 nuclear translocation requires the activation of several signal transduction pathways, including phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (PKB, Akt) (Nakaso et al., 2003). PI3K/Akt are important signaling enzymes involved in transduction of various signals from the cell surface to the nucleus. Both of their pathways are associated with the modulation of ARE-driven gene expression via Nrf2 activation (Li et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2000).

A variety of edible phytochemicals are able to activate Nrf2 signaling thereby up-regulating a set of enzymes including NADP(H): quinone oxidoreductase-1 (NQO1), SOD, glutathione Stransferase (GST), HO-1, and  $\gamma$ -glutamyl cysteine ligase ( $\gamma$ -GCL) (Chen and Kong, 2004; Lee and Surh, 2005). Therefore, it has been suggested that the use of antioxidant compounds may help prevent or alleviate diseases, particularly in those for which oxidative stress is the main cause. Flavonoids, important constituents of human diet, are a group of naturally occurring polyphenolic compounds ubiquitously found in vegetables and fruits. Flavonoids are also found in medicinal plants and herbal remedies containing flavonoids have been used worldwide in folk medicines (Di Carlo et al., 1999; Jovanovic et al., 1994). Recently, much attention has been focused on the potential appication of flavonoid-based drugs for the prevention and therapy of free radical-mediated human diseases, such as atherosclerosis, ischemia, inflammation, neuronal degeneration, and cardiovascular diseases (Amic et al., 2003; Crespo et al., 2008; Gordon and Roedig-Penman, 1998; van Acker et al., 2000). In view of



flavonoids' antioxidant and free radical scavenging properties, their biological activities have been studied intensively (Kahkonen et al., 1999; Montoro et al., 2005; Saric et al., 2009; Sugihara et al., 1999).

Butin (7, 3', 4'-trihydroxydihydroflavone, Fig. 1) has been isolated from several medicinal herbs, such as *Dalbergia odorifera*, *Adenanthera pavanina*, and *Vernonia anthelmintica Willd* (Liu et al., 2005; Su et al., 2007; Tian et al., 2004), and reported to possess biological properties such as skin-whitening and anti-implantation activity (Lee et al., 2006). Recently, we demonstrated that butin provided protective effects against H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced apoptosis by scavenging ROS and activating antioxidant enzymes (Zhang et al., 2008), protected against oxidative DNA damage via activation of PI3K/Akt/OGG1 pathway (Kang et al., 2009), and reduced oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction via scavenging of reactive oxygen species (Zhang et al., 2010). However, as far as we know, few studies have been performed on the precise mechanism of butin's protective properties, therefore, in the present study, we investigated the capability of butin to up-regulate Mn SOD expression via activation of the PI3K/Akt/Nrf2 dependent pathway in lung fibroblast cells.



¥1 7

H I

# 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 2.1. Reagents

Butin was purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Ind., Ltd. (Tokyo, Japan) and dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO); the final concentration of DMSO did not exceed 0.02%. The 5,5-dimethyl-1-pyrroline-N-oxide (DMPO) was purchased from the Sigma Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO). Diethyl dithiocarbamate (DEDTC) and [3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium] bromide (MTT) were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO, USA). Primary rabbit polyclonal Mn SOD antibody was purchased from Stressgen Corporation (Victoria, Canada) and primary rabbit polyclonal Nrf2, β-actin antibodies and Akt inhibitor IV were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). The primary anti-phospho Akt (Ser 473) and Akt antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Beverly, MA, USA). LY294002 was provided by Calbiochem (San Diego, CA, USA). The other chemicals and reagents were of analytical grade.

#### 2.2. Cell culture

The Chinese hamster lung fibroblast cells (V79-4) were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection. The V79-4 cells were maintained at 37 °C in an incubator with a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum, streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g/ml) and penicillin (100 units/ml).

## 2.3. Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction

Total RNA was isolated from cells using Trizol (GibcoBRL, Grand Island, NY, USA). Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was performed as described previously (Kang et al., 2006). PCR conditions for MnSOD and for the housekeeping gene, GAPDH, were as follows: 30 cycles of 94 °C for 15 sec; 60 °C for 30 sec; and 68 °C for 60 sec. The primer pairs (Bionics, Seoul, Korea) were follows (forward and reverse, respectively): MnSOD, 5'-GACCTGCCTTACGACTATGG-3' and 5'-GACCTTGCTCCTTATTGAAG-3'; and GAPDH, 5'-GTGGGCCGCCCTAGGCACCAGG-3'; and 5'-GGAGGAAGAGGATGCG GCAGTG-3'. Amplified products were resolved on 1% agarose gels, stained with ethidium bromide, and photographed under ultraviolet light.

# 2.4. Western blotting analysis

The cells were harvested, washed twice with PBS, lysed on ice for 30 min in 100 µl of a lysis buffer [120 mM NaCl, 40 mM Tris (pH 8), 0.1% NP 40] and then centrifuged at 13,000 × g for 15 min. The supernatants were collected from the lysates and the protein concentrations were determined. Aliquots of the lysates (40 µg of protein) were boiled for 5 min and electrophoresed in 10% sodium dodecysulfate-polyacrylamide gel. The blots in the gels were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA), which were then incubated with the primary antibodies. The membranes were further incubated with the secondary immunoglobulin-G-horseradish peroxidase conjugates (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Protein bands were detected using an enhanced chemiluminescence Western blotting detection kit (Amersham, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK), and then exposed onto X-ray film.

#### 2.5. Measurement of Mn SOD activity

Cells were seeded in a culture dish at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml, and at 16 h after plating, were treated with butin at 10 µg/ml. After 1 h, 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the plate, which was incubated more for a further 24 h. The harvested cells were suspended in 10 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) and then lysed on ice by sonicating twice for 15 sec. Triton X-100

(1%) was then added to the lysates and incubated for 10 min on ice. The lysates were clarified, by centrifugation at  $5,000 \times g$  for 10 min at 4°C, and the protein concentration of the supernatant was determined. Fifty microgram of protein was mixed with 500 mM phosphate buffer (pH 10.2), 1 mM potassium cyanide (inhibitor of Cu Zn SOD) and 1 mM epinephrine. Epinephrine rapidly undergoes auto-oxidation at pH 10 to produce adrenochrome, a pink colored product, which was assayed at 480 nm using a UV/VIS spectrophotometer in the kinetic mode. Mn SOD inhibits the auto-oxidation of epinephrine. The rate of inhibition was monitored at 480 nm and the amount of enzyme required to produce 50% inhibition was defined as one unit of enzyme activity, and the Mn SOD activity was expressed as units/mg protein (Casano et al., 1994).

## 2.6. Immunocytochemistry

Cells plated on coverslips were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 30 min and permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 1 min. Cells were treated with blocking medium (3% bovine serum albumin in PBS) for 1 h and incubated with Nrf2 antibody diluted in blocking medium for 2 h. Immuno-reacted primary Nrf2 antibody was detected by a 1:500 dilution of FITC-conjugated secondary antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA, USA) for 1 h. After washing with PBS, stained cells were mounted onto microscope slides in mounting medium with DAPI (Vector, Burlingame, CA, USA). Images were collected using the LSM 510 program on a Zeiss confocal microscope.

#### 2.7. Nuclear extract preparation and electrophoretic mobility shift assay

Cells were harvested at the indicated times, and were then lysed on ice with 1 ml of lysis buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.9, 10 mM NaCl, 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> and 1% NP-40) for 4 min. After 10 min of centrifugation at 3,000 × g, the pellets were re-suspended in 50  $\mu$ l of extraction



-72-

buffer (20 mM HEPES, pH 7.9, 20% glycerol, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 300 mM NaCl, 0.2 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, and 1 mM PMSF), incubated on ice for 30 min, and centrifuged at 13,000 × g for 5 min. The supernatant was then harvested as nuclear protein extracts and stored at -70 °C after determination of protein concentration. Synthetic double strand oligonucleotides containing the Nrf2-binding domain (ARE) were labeled with [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P] ATP using T4 polynucleotide kinase, and subsequently used as probes. The double stranded sequence of oligonucleotides was 5'-TTT TCT GCT GAG TCA AGG GTC CG-3' and 3'-AAA AGA CGA CTC AGT TCC AGG C-5'. The probes (50,000 cpm) were incubated with 6 µg of the nuclear extracts at 4 °C for 30 min in a final volume of 20 µl containing 12.5% glycerol, 12.5 mM HEPES (pH 7.9), 4 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.9), 60 mM KCl, 1 mM EDTA, and 1 mM DTT with 1 µg of poly (dI-dC). Binding products were resolved on a 5% polyacrylamide gel and the bands were visualized by autoradiography.

### 2.8. Transient transfection of small RNA interference (siRNA)

V79-4 cells were seeded at 1.5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well in 24 well plate and allowed to reach approximately 50% confluence on the day of transfection. The siRNA construct used were obtained as mismatched siRNA control (siControl, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), siRNA against Nrf2 (siNrf2, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), siRNA against Akt (siAkt, Dharmacon, Lafayette, CO, USA), and siRNA against Mn SOD (siMn SOD, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Cells were transfected with 10-50 nM siRNA using lipofectamineTM 2000 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) based on the manufacturer's instruction. At 24 h after transfection, the cells were treated with 10 µg/ml of butin for 24 h and examined by either western blot analysis or MTT assay.

## 2.9. Cell viability



The effect of butin on the viability of the V79-4 cells was determined by the MTT assay, which is based on the reduction of a tetrazolium salt by mitochondrial dehydrogenase in viable cells (Carmichael et al, 1987). The cells were seeded in a 96 well plate at a density of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml and treated with 10  $\mu$ M DEDTC (an inhibitor of Mn SOD), 10  $\mu$ g/ml of butin, followed 2 h later by 1 mM of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. After incubating for 24 h at 37 °C, 50  $\mu$ l of the MTT stock solution (2 mg/ml) was then added to each well to attain a total reaction volume of 250  $\mu$ l. After incubation for 4 h, the supernatants were aspirated. The formazan crystals in each well were dissolved in 150  $\mu$ l DMSO, and the ABS<sub>540</sub> was read on a scanning multi-well spectrophotometer.

## 2.10. Statistical analysis

All the measurements were made in triplicate and all values are represented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). The results were subjected to an analysis of the variance (ANOVA) using the Tukey test to analyze the difference. A value of p<0.05 was considered significant.

E



173

# 3. RESULTS

3.1. Butin recovered Mn SOD mRNA and protein expression as well as its activity

Treatment of lung fibroblast cells with 1 mM  $H_2O_2$  decreased the mRNA and protein expression of Mn SOD. However, butin at 10 µg/ml recovered the mRNA and protein expression of Mn SOD (Fig. 15A, B). Given that Mn SOD requires posttranslational alteration for its activity, its activity was also assessed. A significant increase in Mn SOD activity was observed by butin treatment in  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells (Fig. 15C). This result suggests that the increase in Mn SOD mRNA and protein is accompanied by enhanced Mn SOD activity.



**Fig.15.** Effect of butin on Mn SOD mRNA expression, protein expression, and enzyme activity. (A) Cells were treated with butin at 10  $\mu$ g/ml, and 1 h later, 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added for 12 h. Total RNA was extracted, and Mn SOD mRNA expression was analyzed by RT-PCR. (B) Cell lysates were electrophoresed and the expression of Mn SOD protein was detected using a Mn SOD specific antibody.

Collection @ jeju



Fig.15. continued. (C) Mn SOD activity was expressed as average enzyme unit per mg protein  $\pm$  SEM. Each column represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM in triplicate experiments. \*Significantly different from control cells (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells (p<0.05).

1952

I

## 3.2. Butin increased the levels of Nrf2 transcription factor

Most of the genes encoding phase II detoxifying and antioxidant enzymes have an ARE sequence in their promoter region. Nrf2 is an important transcription factor that regulates AREdriven Mn SOD gene expression. We examined whether butin is able to activate Nrf2 in association with Mn SOD up-regulation. Butin treatment restored Nrf2 protein expression which is attenuated by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treatment (Fig. 16A) and resulted in a translocalization of Nrf2 protein from the cytosol to the nucleus (Fig. 16B). Moreover, butin treated cells significantly elevated Nrf2 binding to the ARE sequence as assessed by the gel shift assay (Fig. 16C). These results further suggest that butin up-regulated the activation of Nrf2. To confirm the requirement of Nrf2 for butin-induced Mn SOD expression, cells were transfected with siNrf2 for 24 h prior to butin treatment. As shown in Fig. 16D, butin-induced expression of Mn SOD was markedly inhibited by siRNA knock down of Nrf2 gene. These results further suggest that Nrf2 mediates the butin-induced activation of Nrf2 gene.



**Fig.16.** Effect of butin on levels of Nrf2 transcription factor. (A) Nuclear extracts from V79-4 cells were prepared after treatment with 10  $\mu$ g/ml of butin and 1 h later, 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was add for 24 h. Western blot for nuclear lysates were detected with Nrf2-specific antibody.





**Fig.16. continued.** Confocal imaging using FITC-conjugated secondary antibody staining indicates the location of Nrf2 (green) by anti-Nrf2 antibody, DAPI staining indicates the location of the nucleus (blue), and the merged image indicates the nuclear location of Nrf2 protein.



**Fig.16. continued.** (C) Nuclear extracts prepared from cells that were pretreated with 10  $\mu$ g/ml of butin and 1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added after 1 h. Electrophoretic mobility shift assay was performed for the detection of ARE-binding activity of Nrf2. (D) Cells were transfected with 10-50 nM siControl and siNrf2 using lipofectamineTM 2000 based on the manufacturer's instruction. At 24 h after transfection, the cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ g/ml of butin for 24 h and the expression of Mn SOD protein was examined by western blot analysis.

#### 3.3. Butin activated Nrf2-driven Mn SOD via phosphorylation of PI3K/Akt

To further elucidate the upstream signaling pathway involved in butin-mediated Nrf2 activation and Mn SOD induction, we examined the activation of Akt, which is a major signaling enzyme involved in cellular protection against oxidative stress. Activation of Akt by butin was assessed using Western blot with phospho-specific antibodies against Akt. As shown in Fig. 17A, exposure to butin caused an increase in the phosphorylation of Akt in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated cells. We then analyzed whether Akt pathways is involved in the induction of Nrf2 activation and Mn SOD expression. Cells were pre-incubated for 30 min with inhibitors of LY294002 (a PI3K inhibitor) and Akt inhibitor IV (an Akt inhibitor) and then treated with butin for additional 12 h. The effectiveness of these inhibitors was confirmed in butin-treated cells with antibodies specific for phospho Akt (data not shown). Increase in nuclear Nrf2 accumulation and Mn SOD protein expression occurred following treatment with butin as expected. Inhibition of the PI3K/Akt pathways dramatically reduced the capacity of butin to increase Nrf2 and Mn SOD protein levels (Fig. 17B). To further confirm these observations, cells were transfected with siAkt. As shown in Fig. 17C, the expression of nuclear Nrf2 and Mn SOD were markedly inhibited in siAkt-transfected cells regardless of butin treatment. These results indicate that PI3K/Akt is required to induce Mn SOD expression as well as nuclear accumulation of Nrf2.



**Fig.17.** Induction of Mn SOD and activation of Nrf2 by butin via phosphorylation of PI3K/Akt. (A) Cell lysates were electrophoresed, and phospho-Akt, and Akt were detected using their respective specific antibodies.

-80-



**Fig.17. continued.** (B) After treatment with LY294002 or Akt inhibitor IV, cell lysates were electrophoresed and nuclear Nrf2 and mitochondrial Mn SOD were detected using their respective specific antibodies. (C) Cells were transfected with 10-50 nM siControl and siAkt. At 24 h after transfection, the cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ g/ml of butin for 24 h and the expression of nuclear Nrf2 and Mn SOD protein were examined by western blot analysis.

Collection @ jeju

3.4. Involvement of Mn SOD in cell damage induced by oxidative stress

As shown in Fig. 18A, the protein expression of MnSOD was markedly inhibited in siMn SOD-transfected cells regardless of butin treatment. To determine whether the increased level of Mn SOD activity enhanced by butin confers cytoprotection against oxidative stress, V79-4 cells were pretreated with the Mn SOD inhibitor (DEDTC). DEDTC attenuated the protective effect of butin on H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced cytotoxicity and siMn SOD-transfected cells exhibited similar results (Fig. 18B). Therefore, the cytoprotective effect of butin is likely to be mediated through Mn SOD induction.



**Fig.18.** The cytoprotective effect of butin against  $H_2O_2$ -induced cell death via up-regulation the Mn SOD activity. (A) Cells were transfected with 10-50 nM siControl and siMn SOD. At 24 h after transfection, the cells were treated with 10 µg/ml of butin for 24 h and the expression of Mn SOD protein was examined by western blot analysis.





**Fig.18. continued.** (B) Cells were pre-incubated with DEDTC at 10  $\mu$ M for 1 h or transfected with 10-50 nM siMn SOD, followed by 1 h of incubation with butin and exposure to 1 mM of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> for 24 h. Cell viability was measured using the MTT assay. \*Significantly different from control cells (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated cells (p<0.05). \*\*Significantly different from butin plus H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated cells (p<0.05).

# 4. DISCUSSION

Flavonoids like butin are known to possess powerful antioxidative properties, which are attributed to the presence of phenolic hydroxyl groups in the flavonoid structure. They usually contain one or more aromatic hydroxyl groups, and this moiety is responsible for the antioxidant activity of the flavonoid (van Acker et al., 2000). Recently, we demonstrated that butin provided protective effects against H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced apoptosis by scavenging ROS and activating antioxidant enzymes (Zhang et al., 2008), protected against oxidative DNA damage via activation of PI3K/Akt/OGG1 pathway (Kang et al., 2009) and reduced oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction via scavenging of reactive oxygen species (Zhang et al., 2010). In this study, we demonstrate that butin modulates MnSOD induction in a PI3K/Akt/Nrf2 dependent pathway. To our knowledge, this is the first report demonstrating the capacity of butin to regulate the Mn SOD expression.

Oxidative stress refers to the mismatched redox equilibrium between the production of free radicals and the ability of cells to defend against them. One feasible way to alleviate free radical mediated cellular injuries is to augment the oxidative defense capacity through intake of antioxidants. Moreover, the induction of endogenous phase II detoxifying enzymes or antioxidative proteins seems to be a reasonable strategy for remitting disease aggravation. Although superoxide radicals are not considered as highly reactive when compared to other ROS, their toxicity may be, at least in part, due to their location in mitochondria, which makes an attack on critical targets in the respiratory chain highly possible. Manganese superoxide dismutase (Mn SOD) is a mitochondrial matrix enzyme that scavenges reactive oxygen species (ROS) and protects the cell against the insults of oxidative stress (Li et al., 1995). Therefore, many studies suggest that Mn SOD could play a key role in cell survival, and that Mn SOD is necessary for the maintenance of mitochondrial integrity in cells exposed to oxidative stress



-84-

(Oberley, 2004). Transcriptional regulation of Mn SOD is predominantly mediated by a redoxsensitive transcription factor NF-E2 related factor-2 (Nrf2) (Na et al., 2008). The ability of Nrf2 to up-regulate the expression of antioxidant genes via ARE suggests that increasing Nrf2 activity may provide a useful system for combating oxidative insults.

Nrf2, a member of the cap'n'collar family of bZIP transcription factors, can act as a master regulator of ARE-driven transactivation of antioxidant genes (Lee et al., 2005). A distinct set of Nrf2-regulated proteins detoxify xenobiotics, reduce oxidized proteins, maintain cellular reducing equivalents, disrupt redox cycling reactions, and counteract the noxious effects of ROS (Owuor and Kong, 2002; Jaiswal, 2004). Nrf2 is sequestered in the cytoplasm as an inactive complex with its cytosolic repressor Kelch-like ECH associated protein 1 (Keap1). Dissociation of Nrf2 from the inhibitory protein Keap1 is a prerequisite for nuclear translocation and subsequent DNA binding of Nrf2. After forming a heterodimer with small Maf protein inside the nucleus, the active Nrf2 binds to cis-acting ARE or EpRE, also alternatively known as Maf recognition element (Juan et al., 2005). Besides the dissociation of the Nrf2-Keap1 complex that is facilitated by upstream kinase mediated signals, covalent modification of multiple cysteine residues on Keap1 by electrophiles or inducers of detoxifying enzymes is also considered to release Nrf2 from the Keap1 repression (Dinkova-Kostova et al., 2002). Multiple mechanisms of Nrf2 activation by signals mediated via one or more of the upstream kinases, including MAPKs, PI3K, PKC, and Akt, were recently reviewed (Chen and Kong, 2004; Lee and Surh, 2005; Kwak et al., 2004).

To determine the mechanism of butin recovering  $H_2O_2$ -induced the attenuation of MnSOD mRNA level and protein expression, as well as Mn SOD activity (Fig. 15), we examined the effect of butin on Nrf2 expression in V79-4 cells. Our study indicated that butin up-regulated MnSOD expression through regulation the activation of Nrf2 transcription factor. Butin increases the nuclear levels of the Nrf2 and its binding activity to the ARE which were



attenuated by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Fig. 16). The mechanisms leading to nuclear translocation of Nrf2 include its release from Keap1 in the cytosol. However, because the half-life of Nrf2 transcription factor is very short, these mechanisms should necessarily rely on the stabilization of the Nrf2 protein (Jain et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2007). Our results demonstrate that butin increased the level of Nrf2, suggesting that butin may retard Nrf2 degradation. Most studies on the regulation of phase II gene expression have focused on the role of the PI3K/Akt pathways. Activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway is a key step in diverse biological processes, including cell proliferation, growth, and survival (Huang et al., 2004). Our results demonstrated that the increase of Nrf2-mediated Mn SOD protein level induced by butin was dependent on the activation PI3K/Akt, since LY294002 (a PI3K inhibitor), and Akt inhibitor IV as well as Akt siRNA decreased the butin-induced accumulation of Nrf2 and Mn SOD protein through inhibition of Akt phosphorylation. These results show that PI3K/Akt pathways are regulated by butin, and they participate in the induction of Nrf2 and thus regulate the Mn SOD expression. In addition, we showed that DEDTC, a potent inhibitor of MnSOD activity, and MnSOD siRNA can partially reverse the protective effects of butin, thus providing further evidence for MnSOD as a possible cytoprotective pathway for butin (Fig. 18).

In summary, the present results suggest that butin protects V79-4 cells against oxidative stress-induced cell death. This occurs via an elevated activation of PI3K/Akt, which appears to be responsible for nuclear translocation of Nrf2, its subsequent binding to ARE, and the up-regulation of Mn SOD gene expression (Fig. 19).





**Fig.19.** A proposed pathway for butin-induced Mn SOD via up-regulation of PI3K/Akt and Nrf2, explaining the cytoprotective effect of butin against oxidative stress in V79-4 cells.

11



# REFERENCES

- Adams JM, Cory S (1998) The Bcl-2 Protein Family: Arbiters of Cell Survival. Science 281: 322–1326.
- Alam J, Stewar D, Touchard C, Boinapally S, Choi AM, Cook JL (1999) Nrf2, a Cap'n'Collar transcription factor, regulates induction of the heme oxygenase-1 gene. J Biol Chem 274:26071-26078.
- Amic D, Davidovic-Amic D, Beslo D, Trinajstic N (2003) Structure-radical scavenging activity relationships of flavonoids. Croatica Chemica Acta 76:55-61.
- Arora A, Nair MG, Strasburg GM (1998) Structure-activity relationships for antioxidant activities of a series of flavonoids in a liposomal system. Free Radic Biol Med 24:1355– 1363.
- Arora A, Byrem TM, Nair MG, Strasburg GM (2000) Modulation of liposomal membrane fluidity by flavonoids and isoflavonoids. Arch Biochem Biophys 373:102–109.
- Belikova NA, Glumac A, Rafikov R, Jiang JF, Greenberger JS, Kagan VE, Bayir H (2009) Radioprotection by short-term oxidative preconditioning: Role of manganese superoxide dismutase. FEBS Lett 583:3437-3442.
- Bhargava SK (1986) Estrogenic and postcoital anticonceptive activity in rats of butin isolated from *Butea monosperma* seed. J Ethnopharmacol 18: 95-101.
- Boya P, Cohen I, Zamzami N, Vieira HL, Kroemer G (2002) Endoplasmic reticulum stressinduced cell death requires mitochondrial membrane permeabilization. Cell Death Differ 9:465–467.
- Brunelle JK, Chandel NS (2002) Oxygen deprivation induced cell death: an update. Apoptosis 7:475-482.

Brusselmans K, Vrolix R, Verhoeven G, Swinnen JV (2005) Induction of Cancer Cell

Collection @ jeju

Apoptosis by Flavonoids Is Associated with Their Ability to Inhibit Fatty Acid Synthase Activity. J Biol Chem 280:5636-5645.

- Budihardjo I, Oliver H, Lutter M, Luo X, Wang X (1999) Biochemical pathways of caspase activation du ring apoptosis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 15:269-290.
- Cai J, Yang J, Jones DP (1998) Mitochondrial control of apoptosis: the role of cytochrome c. Biochim Biophys Acta 1366:139-149.
- Cai YZ, Mei S, Jie X, Luo Q, Corke H (2006) Structure-radical scavenging activity relationships of phenolic compounds from traditional Chinese medicinal plants. Life Sci 78:2872-2888.
- Carmichael J, DeGraff WG, Gazdar AF, Minna JD, Mitchell JB (1987) Evaluation of a tetrazolium-based semiautomated colorimetric assay: assessment of chemosensitivity testing. Cancer Res 47:936-942.
- Carrillo MC, Kanai S, Nokubo M, Kitani K (1991) (-) deprenyl induces activities of both superoxide dismutase and catalase but not of glutathione peroxidase in the striatum of young male rats. Life Sci 48:517-521.
- Casano LM, Martin M, Sabater B (1994) Sensitivity of superoxide dismutase transcript levels and activities to oxidative stress is lower in mature-senescent than in young barley leaves. Plant Physiol 106:1033-1039.
- Castellani R, Hirai K, Aliev G, Drew KL, Nunomura A, Takeda A, Cash AD, Obrenovich ME, Perry G, Smith MA (2002) Role of mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci Res 70:357 -360.
- Chen C, Kong AN (2004) Dietary chemopreventive compounds and ARE/EpRE signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 36:1505-1516.
- Chen XL, Kunsch C (2004) Induction of cytoprotective genes through Nrf2/antioxidant response element pathway: a new therapeutic approach for the treatment of inflammatory



diseases. Curr Pharm Des 10:879-891.

- Cos P, Calomme M, Sindambiwe JB, De Bruyne T, Cimanga K, Pieters L, Vlietinck AJ, Vanden Berghe D (2001) Cytotoxicity and lipid peroxidation-inhibiting activity of flavonoids. Planta Med 67:515-519.
- Cossarizza A, Baccarani-Contri M, Kalashnikova G, Franceschi C (1993) A new method for the cytofluorimetric analysis of mitochondrial membrane potential using the J-aggregate forming lipophilic cation 5,5',6,6'-tetrachloro-1,1',3,3'-tetraethylbenzimidazolcarbocyanine iodide (JC-1). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 197:40-45.
- Craig EA, Marszalek J (2002) A specialized mitochondrial molecular chaperone system: a role in formation of Fe/S centers. Cell Mol Life Sci 59:1658-1665.
- Crespo I, Garcia-Mediavilla MV, Almar M, Gonzalez P, Tunon MJ, Sanchez-Campos S, Gonzalez-Gallego J (2008) Differential effects of dietary flavonoids on reactive oxygen and nitrogen species generation and changes in antioxidant enzyme expression induced by proinflammatory cytokines in Chang Liver cells. Food Chem Toxicol 46:1555-1569.
- Crompton M (1999) The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in cell death. Biochem J 341:233–249.
- Di Carlo G, Mascolo N, Izzo AA, Capasso F (1999) Flavonoids: old and new aspects of a class of natural therapeutic drugs. Life Sci 65:337-353.
- Dinkova-Kostova AT, Holtzclaw WD, Cole RN, Itoh K, Wakabayashi N, Katoh Y, Yamamoto M, Talalay P (2002) Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:11908-11913.
- Dreger H, Westphal K, Weller A, Baumann G, Stangl V, Meiners S, Stangl K (2009) Nrf2dependent upregulation of antioxidative enzymes: a novel pathway for proteasome inhibitor-mediated cardioprotection. Cardiovasc Res 83:354-361.



-90-

- Droge W (2002) Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol Rev 82:47-95.
- Fan M, Goodwin M, Vu T, Brantley-Finley C, Gaarde WA, Chambers TC (2000) Vinblastineinduced phosphorylation of Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL is mediated by JNK and occurs in parallel with inactivation of the Raf-1/MEK/ERK cascade. J Biol Chem 275:29980-29985.
- Feissner RF, Skalska J, Gaum WE, Sheu SS (2009) Crosstalk signaling between mitochondrial Ca<sup>2+</sup> and ROS. Front Biosci 14:1197-1218.
- Gordon MH, Roedig-Penman A (1998) Antioxidant activity of quercetin and myricetin in liposomes. Chem Phys Lipids 97:79-85.
- Green DR, Reed JC (1998) Mitochondria and apoptosis. Science 281:1309-1312.
- Gross A, McDonnell JM, Korsmeyer SJ (1999) Bcl-2 family members and mitochondria in apoptosis. Genes Dev 13:1899-1911.
- Guo SH, Yan JQ, Yang TB, Yang XQ, Bezard E, Zhao BL (2007) Protective effects of green tea polyphenols in the 6-OHDA rat model of Parkinson's disease through inhibition of ROS-NO pathway. Biol Psychiatry 62:1353-1362.
- Harborne JB, Williams CA (2000) Advances in flavonoid research since 1992. Phytochemistry 55:481–504.
- Harrison DG, Gongora MC (2009) Oxidative stress and hypertension. Med Clin North Am 93: 621-635.
- Hayes JD, McLellan LI (1999) Glutathione and glutathione-dependent enzymes represent a coordinately regulated defense against oxidative stress. Free Radic Res 31:273-300.
- Henry-Mowatt J, Dive C, Martinou JC, James D (2004) Role of mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in apoptosis and cancer. Oncogene 23:2850-2860.
- Huang HN, Lu PJ, Lo WC, Lin CH, Hsiao M, Tseng CJ (2004) In situ Akt phosphorylation in the nucleus tractus solitarii is involved in central control of blood pressure and heart rate.



Circulation 110:2476-2483.

- Inanami O, Takahashi K, Yoshito A, Kuwabara M (1999) Hydrogen peroxide-induced activation of SAPK/JNK regulated by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in Chinese hamster V79 cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 1:113-121.
- Ishikawa Y, Kusaka E, Enokido Y, Ikeuchi T, Hatanaka H (2003) Regulation of Bax translocation through phosphorylation at Ser-70 of Bcl-2 by MAP kinase in NO-induced neuronal apoptosis. Mol Cell Neurosci 24:451-459.
- Jain AK, Mahajan S, Jaiswal AK (2008) Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of tyrosine 141 regulate stability and degradation of INrf2: a novel mechanism in Nrf2 activation. J Biol Chem 283:17712-17720.
- Jaiswal AK (2004) Nrf2 signaling in coordinated activation of antioxidant gene expression. Free Radic Biol Med 36:1199-1207.
- Jang DS, Park EJ, Hawthorne ME, Vigo Graham JS, Cabieses JGF, Santarsiero BD, Mesecar AD, Fong HH, Mehta RG, Pezzuto JM, Kinghorn AD (2003) Potential cancer chemopreventive constituents of the seeds of *Dipteryx odorata* (tonka bean). J Nat Prod 66:583-587.
- Jezek P, Hlavata L (2005) Mitochondria in homeostasis of reactive oxygen species in cell, tissues, and organism. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 37:2478-2503.
- Jovanovic SV, Steenken S, Tosic M, Marjanovic B, Simic MG (1994) Flavonoids as antioxidants. J Am Chem Soc 116:4846-4851.
- Juan SH, Cheng TH, Lin HC, Chu YL, Lee WS (2005) Mechanism of concentration-dependent induction of heme oxygenase-1 by resveratrol in human aortic smooth muscle cells. Biochem Pharmacol 69:41-48.
- Kahkonen MP, Hopia AI, Vuorela HJ, Rauha J, Pihlaja K, Kujala TS, Heinonen M (1999) Antioxidant activity of plant extracts containing phenolic compounds. J Agric Food Chem



-92-

47:3954-3962.

- Kang KA, Lee JH, Chae S, Zhang R, Piao MJ, Kim HS, You HJ, Hyun JW (2009) Butin decreases oxidative stress-induced 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine levels via activation of oxoguanine glycosylase 1. Chem Biol Interact 181:338-342.
- Kang KA, Zhang R, Lee KH, Chae S, Kim BJ, Kwak YS, Park JW, Lee NH, Hyun JW (2006)Protective Effect of Triphrorethol-A from Ecklonia cava against Ionizing Radiation in vitro.J Rad Res 47:61-68.
- Kannan K, Jain SK (2000) Oxidative stress and apoptosis. Pathophysilogy 7:153-163.

Karin M, Liu Z, Zandi E (1997) AP-1 function and regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 9:240-246.

- Kiningham KK, Oberley TD, Lin SM, Mattingly CA, St. Clair DK (1999) Overexpression of manganese superoxide dismutase protects against mitochondrial-initiated poly (ADPribose) polymerase mediated cell death. FASEB J 13:1601-1610.
- Koblyakov VA (2001) Free radicals and inflammation (progress in inflammation research series). Biochemistry 66:937-938.
- Kroemer G, Reed JC (2000) Mitochondrial control of cell death. Nat Med 6:513-519.
- Kuzu N, Bahcecioglu IH, Dagli AF, Ozercan IH, Ustundag B, Sahin K (2008) Epigallocatechin gallate attenuates experimental non-alcoholic steatohepatitis induced by high fat diet. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 23:E465-470.
- Kwak MK, Wakabayashi N, Kensler TW (2004) Chemoprevention through the Keap1-Nrf2 signaling pathway by phase 2 enzyme inducers. Mutat Res 555:133-148.
- Lebovitz RM, Zhang H, Vogel H, Cartwright J, Dionne L, Lu N, Huang S, Matzuk MM (1996) Neurodegeneration, myocardial injury and perinatal death in mitochondrial superoxide dismutase-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:9782-9787.
- Lee HJ, Noh YH, Lee DY, Kim YS, Kim KY, Chung YH, Lee WB, Kim SS (2005) Baicalein attenuates 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neurotoxicity in SH-SY5Y cells. Eur J Cell Biol



84:897-905.

- Lee JC, Lim KT, Jang YS (2002) Identification of Rhus verniciflua Stokes compounds that exhibit free radical scavenging and anti-apoptotic properties. Biochim Biophys Acta-Gen Subjects 1570:181-191.
- Lee JM, Li J, Johnson DA, Stein TD, Kraft AD, Calkins MJ, Jakel RJ, Johnson JA (2005) Nrf2 a multi-organ protector? FASEB J 19:1061-1066.
- Lee JS, Surh YJ (2005) Nrf2 as a novel molecular target for chemoprevention. Cancer Lett 224:171-184.
- Lee MH, Lin YP, Hsu FL, Zhan GR, Yen KY (2006) Bioactive constituents of Spatholobus suberectus in regulating tyrosinase-related proteins and mRNA in HEMn cells. Phytochemistry 67:1262-1270.
- Lee OH, Jain AK, Papusha V, Jaiswal AK (2007) An auto-regulatory loop between stress sensors INrf2 and Nrf2 controls their cellular abundance. J Biol Chem 282:36412-36420.
- Li J, Huang CY, Zheng RL, Cui KR, Li JF (2000) Hydrogen peroxide induces apoptosis in human hepatoma cells and alters cell redox status. Cell Biol Int 24:9-23.
- Li Y, Huang TT, Carlson EJ, Melav S, Ursell PC, Olson JL, Noble LJ, Yoshimura MP, Berger C, Chan PH, Wallace DC, Epstein CJ (1995) Dilated cardiomyopathy and neonatal lethality in mutant mice lacking manganese superoxide dismutase. Nat Genet 11:376-381.
- Li MH, Cha YN, Surh YJ (2006) Peroxynitrite induces HO-1 expression via PI3K/Aktdependent activation of NF-E2-related factor 2 in PC12 cells. Free Radic Biol Med 41:1079-1091.
- Li MH, Jang JH, Na HK, Cha YN, Surh YJ (2007) Carbon monoxide produced by heme oxygenase-1 in response to nitrosative stress induces expression of glutamate-cysteine ligase in PC12 cells via activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and Nrf2 signaling. J Biol Chem 282:28577-28586.



-94-

- Ling YH, Liebes L, Ng B, Buckley M, Elliott PJ, Adams J, Jiang JD, Muggia FM, Perez-Soler R (2002) PS-341, a novel proteasome inhibitor, induces Bcl-2 phosphorylation and cleavage in association with G2-M phase arrest and apoptosis. Mol Cancer Ther 1:841-849.
- Liu RX, Wang Q, Guo HZ, Li L, Bi KS, Guo DA (2005) Simultaneous determination of 10 major flavonoids in Dalbergia odorifera by high performance liquid chromatography. J Pharm Biomed Anal 39:469-476.
- Lo SF, Nalawade SM, Mulabagal V et al (2004) In Vitro propagation by asymbiotic seed germination and 1,1-Diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging activity studies of tissue culture raised plants of three medicinally important species of Dendrobium. Biol Pharm Bull 27:731-735.
- Loeb LA, Wallace DC, Martin GM (2005) The mitochondrial theory of aging and its relationship to reactive oxygen species damage and somatic mtDNA mutations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:18769-18770.
- Lowell BB, Shulman GI (2005) Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Type 2 Diabetes. Science 307:384-387.
- Lubos E, Handy DE, Loscalzo J (2008) Role of oxidative stress and nitric oxide in atherothrombosis. Front Biosci 13:5323-5344.
- Macmillan-Crow LA, Cruthirds DL (2001) Invited review: manganese superoxide dismutase in disease. Free Radic Res 34:325-336.
- Malhi H, Bronk SF, Werneburg NW, Gores GJ (2006) Free fatty acids induce JNK-dependent hepatocyte lipoapoptosis. J Biol Chem 281:12093-12101.
- Mann KK, Davison K, Colombo M, Colosimo AL, Diaz Z, Padovani AM, Guo Q, Scrivens PJ, Gao W, Mader S, Miller WHJr (2006) Antimony trioxide-induced apoptosis is dependent on SEK1/JNK signaling. Toxicol Lett 160:158-170.

Margoliash E, Novogrodsky A, Schejter A (1960) Irreversible eaction of 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole


and related inhibitors with the protein of catalase. Biochem J 74: 339-348.

- Mattson MP, Gleichmann M, Cheng AW (2008) Mitochondria in Neuroplasticity and Neurological Disorders. Neuron 60:748-766.
- Misra HP, Fridovich I (1972) The role of superoxide anion in the autoxidation of epinephrine and a simple assay for superoxide dismutase. J Biol Chem 247:3170-3175.
- Montoro P, Braca A, Pizza C, Tommasi ND (2005) Structure–antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids isolated from different plant species. Food Chem 92:349-355.
- Murray JI, Whitfield ML, Trinklein ND, Myers RM, Brown PO, Botstein D (2004) Diverse and specific gene expression responses to stresses in cultured human cells. Mol Biol Cell 15:2361-2374.
- Na HK, Kim EH, Jung JH, Lee HH, Hyun JW, Sure YJ (2008) (-)-Epigallocatechin gallate induces Nrf2-mediated antioxidant enzyme expression via activation of PI3K and ERK in human mammary epithelial cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 476:171-177.
- Nakamura K, Bossy-Wetzel E, Burns K, Fadel MP, Lozyk M, Goping IS, Opas M, Bleackley RC, Green DR, Michalak M (2000) Changes in endoplasmic reticulum luminal environment affect cell sensitivity to apoptosis. J Cell Biol 150:731–740.
- Nakaso K, Yano H, Fukuhara Y, Takeshima T, Wada-Isoe K, Nakashima K (2003) PI3K is a key molecule in the Nrf2-mediated regulation of antioxidative proteins by hemin in human neuroblastoma cells. FEBS Lett 546:181-184.
- Nguyen T, Sherratt PJ, Pickett CB (2003) Regulatory mechanisms controlling gene expression mediated by the antioxidant response element. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 43:233-260.
- Nicholson DW, Thornberry NA (1997) Caspases: killer proteases. Trends Biochem Sci 22: 299-306.
- Nicoletti I, Migliorati G, Pagliacci MC, Grignani F, Riccardi C (1991) A rapid and simple method for measuring thymocyte apoptosis by propidium iodide staining and flow



cytometry. J Immunol Methods 139:271-279.

- Oberley TD (2004) Mitochondria, manganese superoxide dismutase, and cancer. Antioxid Redox Signal 6:483-487.
- Ohkawa H, Ohishi N, Yagi K (1979) Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. Anal Biochem 95:351-358.
- Orrenius S, Gogvadze V, Zhivotovsky B (2007) Mitochondrial oxidative stress: implications for cell death. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:143-183.
- Ott M, Gogvadze V, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B (2007) Mitochondria, oxidative stress and cell death. Apoptosis 12:913-922.
- Owuor ED, Kong AN (2002) Antioxidants and oxidants regulated signal transduction pathways. Biochem Pharmacol 64:765–770.
- Park C, So HS, Shin CH, Baek SH, Moon BS, Shin SH, Lee HS, Lee DW, Park R (2003) Quercetin protects the hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis via inhibition of mitochondrial dysfunction in H9c2 cardiomyoblast cells. Biochem Pharmacol 66:1287-1295.
- Patil CS, Singh VP, Satyanarayan PS, Jain NK, Singh A, Kulkarni SK (2003) Protective Effect of Flavonoids against Aging- and Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Cognitive Impairment in Mice. Pharmacology 69:59-67.
- Pedersen PL (1999) Mitochondrial events in the life and death of animal cells: a brief overview. J Bioenerg Biomembr 31:291-304.
- Pennathre S, Heinecke JW (2007) Mechanisms for oxidative stress in diabetic cardiovascular disease. Antioxid Redox Signal 9:955-969.
- Perkins CL, Fang G, Kim CN, Bhalla KN (2000) The role of Apaf-1, caspase-9, and bid proteins in etoposide- or paclitaxel-induced mitochondrial events during apoptosis. Cancer Res 60:1645-1653.

Pryor WA, Stone K, Zang LY, Bermudez E (1998) Fractionation of aqueous cigarette tar

Collection @ jeju

-97-

extracts: fractions that contain the tar radical cause DNA damage. Chem Res Toxicol 11:441-448.

- Rajagopalan R, Ranjan S, Nair C (2003) Effect of vinblastine sulfate on gamma-radiationinduced DNA single-strand breaks in murine tissues. Mutat Res 536:15-25.
- Rice-Evans CA, Miller NJ, Bolwell PG, Bramley PM, Pridham JB (1995) The relative antioxidant activities of plant-derived polyphenolic flavonoids. Free Radic Res 22:375-383.
- Rice-Evans CA, Miller NJ, George P (1996) Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. Free Radic Biol Med 20:933-956.
- Richter C (1993) Pro-oxidants and mitochondrial Ca<sup>2+</sup>: Their relationship to apoptosis and oncogenesis. FEBS Lett 325:104-107.
- Rosenkranz AR, Schmaldienst S, Stuhlmeier KM, Chen W, Knapp W, Zlabinger GJ (1992) A microplate assay for the detection of oxidative products using 2',7'-dichlorofluorescindiacetate. J Immunol Meth 156:39-45.
- Rushmore TH, Kong AN (2002) Pharmacogenomics, regulation and signaling pathways of phase I and phase II drug metabolizing enzymes. Curr Drug Metab 3:481-490.
- Rushmore TH, Morton MR, Pickett CB (1991) The antioxidant responsive element. Activation by oxidative stress and identification of the DNA consensus sequence required for functional activity. J Biol Chem 266:11632-11639.
- Rustin P, Munnich A, Rotig A (2002) Succinate dehydrogenase and human diseases: new insights into a well-known enzyme. Eur J Hum Genet 10:289-291.
- Salter L, Clifford T, Morley N, Gould D, Campbell S, Curnow A (2004) The use of comet assay data with a simple reaction mechanism to evaluate the relative effectiveness of free radical scavenging by quercetin, epigallocatechin gallate and N-acetylcysteine in UVirradiated MRC5 lung fibroblasts. J Photochem Photobiol B 75:57-61.

Saraste M (1999) Oxidative phosphorylation at the fin de siecle. Science 283:1488-1493.



- Saric A, Balog T, Sobocanec S, Kusic B, Sverko V, Rusak G, Likic S, Bubalo D, Pinto B, Reali D, Marotti T (2009) Antioxidant effects of flavonoid from Croatian Cystus incanus L. rich bee pollen. Food Chem Toxicol 47:547-554.
- Schumacker PT (2006) Reactive oxygen species in cancer cells: Live by the sword, die by the sword. Cancer cell 10:175-176.
- Seyoum A, Asres K, El-Fiky FK (2006) Structure-radical scavenging activity relationships of flavonoids. Phytochemistry 67:2058–2070.
- Shao HB, Chu LY, Lu ZH, Kang CM (2008) Primary antioxidant free radical scavenging and redox signaling pathways in higher plant cells. Int J Biol Sci 4:8–14.
- Shimada K, Nakamura M, Ishida E, Kishi M, Konishi N (2003) Roles of p38- and c-jun NH2terminal kinase-mediated pathways in 2-methoxyestradiol-induced p53 induction and apoptosis. Carcinogenesis 24:1067-1075.
- Shu XS, Lv JH, Tao J, Li GM, Li HD, Ma N (2009) Antihyperglycemic effects of total flavonoids from Polygonatum odoratum in STZ and alloxan-induced diabetic rats. J Ethnopharmacol 124:539-543.
- Singh D, Chopra K (2004) The effect of naringin, a bioflavonoid on ischemia-reperfusion induced renal injury in rats. Pharmacol Res 50:187-193.
- Singh NP (2000) Microgels for estimation of DNA strand breaks, DNA protein cross links and apoptosis. Mutat Res 455:111-127.
- Soczynska-Kordala M, Bakowska A, Oszmianski J, Gabrielska J (2001) Metal ionflavonoid associations in bilayer phospholipid membranes. Cell Mol Biol Lett 6:277–281.
- Su EN, Yu SS, Pei YH (2007) Studies on chemical constituents from stems and leaves of Adenanthera pavanina. Zhongguo Zhong Yao Za Zhi 32:2135-2138.
- Sugihara N, Arakawa T, Ohnishi M, Furuno K (1999) Anti- and pro-oxidative effects of flavonoids on metal-induced lipid hydroperoxide-dependent lipid peroxidation in cultured



-99-

hepatocytes loaded with alpha-linolenic acid. Free Radic Biol Med 27:1313-1323.

- Takadera T, Ohyashiki T (1997) Apoptotic cell death and caspase 3 (CPP32) activation induced by calcium ionophore at low concentrations and their prevention by nerve growth factor in PC12 cells. Eur J Biochem 249:8–12.
- Tian G, Zhang U, Zhang T, Yang F, Ito Y (2004) Separation of flavonoids from the seeds of Vernonia anthelmintica Willd by high-speed counter-current chromatography. J Chromatogr A 1049:219-222.
- Troiano L, Ferraresi R, Lugli E, Nemes E, Roat E, Nasi M, Pinti M, Cossarizza A (2007) Multiparametric analysis of cells with different mitochondrial membrane potential during apoptosis by polychromatic flow cytometry. Nat Protoc 2:2719-2727.
- Valko M, Rhodes CJ, Moncol J, Izakovic M, Mazur M (2006) Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress- induced cancer. Chem Biol Interact 160:1–40.
- van Acker FA, Schouten O, Haenen GR, van der Vijgh WJ, Bast A (2000) Flavonoids can replace alpha-tocopherol as an antioxidant. FEBS Lett 473:145-148.
- Wallace DC (1999) Mitochondrial diseases in man and mouse. Science 283:1482-1488.
- Wei YZ, Rector RS, Thyfault JP, Ibdah JA (2008) Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and mitochondrial dysfunction. World J Gastroenterol 14:193-199.
- Weisiger RA, Fridovich I (1973) Superoxide dismutase. Organelle specificity. J Biol Chem 248:3582-3592.
- Whitmarshm AJ, Davis RJ (1996) Transcription factor AP-1 regulation by mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways. J Mol Med 74:589-607.
- Wild AC, Moinova HR, Mulcahy RT (1999) Regulation of gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase subunit gene expression by the transcription factor Nrf2. J Biol Chem 274:33627-33636.

Williams RJ, Spencer JP, Rice-Evans C (2004) Flavonoids: antioxidants or signaling

-100-

Collection @ jeju

molecules? Free Radic Biol Med 36:838-849.

- Yao LH, Jiang YM, Shi J, Tomas-Barberan FA, Datta N, Singanusong R, Chen SS (2004) Flavonoids in food and their health benefits. Plant Foods Human Nutr 59:113–122.
- Yen HC, Oberley TD, Gairola CG, Szweda LI, St. Clair DK (1999) Manganese superoxide dismutase protects mitochondrial complex I against adriamycin-induced cardiomyopathy in transgenic mice. Arch Biochem Biophys 362:59–66.
- Yu R, Chen C, Mo YY, Hebbar V, Owuor ED, Tan TH, Kong AN (2000) Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways induces antioxidant response element-mediated gene expression via a Nrf2-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem 275:39907-39913.
- Zamzami N, Marchetti P, Castedo M, Zanin C, Vayssiere JL, Petit PX, Kroemer G (1995) Reduction in mitochondrial potential constitutes an early irreversible step of programmed lymphocyte death in vivo. J Exp Med 181:1661-1672.
- Zamzami N, Susin SA, Marchetti P, Hirsch T, Gomez-Monterrey I, Castedo M, Kroemer G (1996) Mitochondrial control of nuclear apoptosis. J Exp Med 183:1533-1544.
- Zhan C, Yang J (2006) Protective effects of isoliquiritigenin in transient middle cerebral artery occlusion-induced focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Pharmacol Res 53:303-309.
- Zhang R, Chae S, Kang KA, Piao MJ, Ko DO, Wang ZH, Park DB, Park JW, You HJ, Hyun JW (2008) Protective effect of butin against hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis by scavenging reactive oxygen species and activating antioxidant enzymes. Mol Cell Biochem 318:33-42.
- Zhang R, Kang KA, Piao MJ, Chang WY, Maeng YH, Chae S, Lee IK, Kim BJ, Hyun JW (2010) Butin reduces oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction via scavenging of reactive oxygen species. Food Chem Toxicol 48:922-927.
- Zu K, Hawthorn L, Ip C (2005) Up-regulation of c-Jun-NH2-kinase pathway contributes to the induction of mitochondria-mediated apoptosis by alpha-tocopheryl succinate in human

-101-

prostate cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther 4:43-50.





-102-

## VI. ABSTRACT IN KOREAN

플라보노이드는 다이어트의 중요한 요소로 야채와 과일에 보편적으로 존재하는 폴리페놀릭 화합물이다. 최근에는 우수한 약리작용과 세포독성이 낮은 천연 항산 화제를 탐색하고 있으며 더욱이 프리 라디칼로 매개되는 인간 질환의 예방과 치료 에 있어서 플라보노이드 약물의 잠재적 응용에 관한 관심이 매우 높다. 7,3',4'-Trihydroxydihydroflavone을 butin이라고도 명명하는데 강진향 (Dalbergia odorifera), 해홍두 (Adenanthera pavanina), 그리고 Vernonia anthelmintica Willd (살충 베르노니아) 와 같은 약초로부터 분리되었고 피부미백, 항재협착 특성 과 같은 생물학적 활성을 가진다고 보고되었다. Butin은 프리 라디칼 소거능력에 의한 항산화제 활성을 갖고 있지만 지금까지 알려진 바로는 산화적 스트레스로 유 도되는 세포 손상에 대한 확실한 메커니즘을 규명한 연구는 아직도 매우 적은 것 으로 알려져 있다. 그러므로 본 논문은 butin의 보호작용과 관련된 메커니즘에 초 점을 맞춰서 연구를 진행하였다.

## JEJU

우선, 산화적 스트레스로 유도되는 세포손상에 대한 butin의 보호작용은 가능하 게 두 가지 활성과 연관되는바 프리 라디칼 소거작용과 같은 산소 라디칼 소거에 관한 직접적인 작용과 항산화 효소의 유발을 통한 간접적인 작용을 나타내었다.

미토콘드리아는 슈퍼옥사이드 생성의 주요원인이며 활성산소종의 직접적인 공격 을 받는다. 그러므로 산화적 스트레스로 유도되는 미토콘드리아의 손상에 있어서 butin의 역할을 중점적으로 연구하였다. 그 결과 butin이 미토콘드리아의 ROS 축 적을 감소하고 세포 내 Ca<sup>2+</sup> 레벨을 조절하고 미토콘드리아의 에너지 생성을 개선 시킴으로써 미토콘드리아의 기능을 회복시킨다는 것을 발견하였다. 아시다 싶이 ROS는 미토콘드리아로 매개되는 아폽토시스 경로의 유발에 중요 한 역할을 한다. 그러므로 막전위 탈분극의 붕괴 그리고 JNK와 미토콘드리아 관 련 caspase 의존적 아폽토시스 경로의 억제작용을 통하여 산화적 스트레스로 유 도되는 아폽토시스에 대한 butin의 보호작용을 증명하였다.

항산화 효소는 ROS의 독성에 대처할 수 있을 뿐만 아니라 게다가 항산화 효소 의 유발은 효과적이고 충분하게 산화적 스트레스로부터 세포를 보호할 수 있다. Mn SOD는 중요한 항산화 효소로 미토콘드리아에서 슈퍼옥사이드 라디칼을 소거 하는데 최근에는 보호 기능을 강조하고 있다. Mn SOD의 전사조절작용은 주요하게 산화환원반응에 민감한 전사인자 Nrf2에 의하여 매개된다. 게다가 PI3K/AKT는 Nrf2 활성의 유도를 통하여 항산화 반응 요소 (ARE)로 유발되는 유전자 발현을 조절한다. 본 연구는 butin이 PI3K/Akt의 활성화의 증가를 통하여 Nrf2의 핵대 이동으로 ARE에 결합함으로써 Mn SOD 발현을 상위 조절하여 산화적 스트레스로 유도되는 세포 손상을 감소시킨다는 것을 나타내었다.



917

-104-

H IL

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would lide to express my sincere appreciation to my direct supervisor Prof. Jin-Won Hyun to offer me the opportunity to commence my postgraduate studies in Jeju National University. Her understanding, encouraging and personal guidance have provided a good basis for me during all the time of my six-year study in South Korea.

I owe my sincere gratitude to Prof. Moon-Jae Cho, Prof. Deok-Bae Park, Prof. Hee-Kyoung Kang, Prof. Eun-Sook, Yoo, school of medicine in Jeju National University, who gave me the instructions to complete this thesis. And all professors who have instructed me in school of medicine are also greatly appreciated.

I particularly appreciate all my lab members specially Dr. Kyoung-Ah Kang for her valuable advice and friendly help. Mei-Jing Piao is deeply appreciated for the support extended to me in various ways. Ki-Cheon Kim, Areum-Daseul Kim, who offered their kind assistances to drive my work to success are also appreciated. Thank you to Young-Mee Kim, Hee-Kyung Lim, Jin-Young Kim, and all the other classmates in medical college. I'm also thankful to Xiu-Ji Cui, Zhi-Gang Cui, Yan-Ji Cui, Jin-Ji Wu, Rong-Li Wang and all other Chinese friends in Jeju National University for the share of joy, laughter and happy time in the last few years.

I would also like to acknowledge my friend Huayue Lee for reviewing my thesis and providing valuable feedback. My special thanks go to my boyfriend Ning Wang, who helped me by many ways to finish my studies in Korea.

Last but not least, I would like to give my special thanks to my parents who are the origin of my power. They formed part of my vision and taught me the good things that really matter in life. Their patient loves enable me to complete my research work in Korea.

Collection @ jeju